
Corporate, Customer and Community Services Directorate
Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House 107-117 Botchergate, 

Carlisle, Cumbria CA1 1RD
Tel 01228 227354  Email daniel.hamilton@cumbria.gov.uk

1

To:  The Chair and Members of the Scrutiny 
Advisory Board - Children and Young 
People

Agenda
SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE

A meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board - Children and Young People will be held as 
follows: 

Date: Monday 23 September 2019
Time: 10.30 am
Place: Committee Room 1, County Offices, Kendal

Please Note

There will be a pre-meeting for Members only at 9.30am. 

Dawn Roberts
Executive Director- Corporate, Customer and Community Services

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to: Daniel Hamilton
Direct Line: 01228 226906
6906Email: daniel.hamilton@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the people of Cumbria



2

MEMBERSHIP

Conservative (6) Labour (4)
Mrs V Tarbitt (Chair)
Mr B Shirley (Vice-Chair)
Mrs EA Mallinson
Mr CP Turner
Mr P Dew
Mr AW Wonnacott

Mrs C Bowditch
Mr W McEwan
Ms C Driver
Mrs EL Williamson

Liberal Democrat (3)

Mrs S Evans
Mr W Clark
Mr GD Cook

Church Representatives (2) Parent Governor Representatives (1)

Mr M Mills
Mr C Proctor

Mrs C Johnston

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


3

A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence  

2  MEMBERSHIP

To report any changes to the membership of the Board  

3  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b)  Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial 
interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where



4

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.  

5  MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 30 May 
2019 (copy enclosed). 

(Pages 7 - 12)

6  SEND WRITTEN STATEMENT OF ACTION

To consider a report from the Interim Executive Director – People (copy enclosed).   

(Pages 13 - 64)

7  NEW SAFEGUARDING ARRANGEMENTS

To consider a report from the Interim Executive Director – People (copy enclosed).   

(Pages 65 - 76)

8  OFSTED - 'HUB FOCUSED VISIT'

To consider a report from the Interim Executive Director – People (copy enclosed).
 



5

(Pages 77 - 84)

9  CABINET MEMBER UPDATE

Members to receive an update on their activity from Lead Cabinet Members (copy 
enclosed).
 
(Pages 85 - 86)

10 BOARD BRIEFING

To consider a report from the Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community 
Services (copy enclosed).

The report informs members of new and updated items of significance to the Board 
(including relevant aspects of the Council’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions).

(Pages 87 - 88)

11 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

Date: 20 December 2019
Time: 10:00 am 
Venue: Conference Room A/B, Cumbria House   



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD - CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

Minutes of a Meeting of the Scrutiny Advisory Board - Children and Young People 
held on Thursday, 30 May 2019 at 10.30 am at Conference Room A/B, Cumbria 
House, Carlisle

PRESENT:

Mrs V Tarbitt (Chair)

Mrs C Johnston
Mrs C Bowditch
Mr M Mill
Mr CP Turner
Mr L Fisher

Mr P Dew
Mr W Clark
Mr GD Cook
Mr HGG Graham

Also in Attendance:-

Mr D Hamilton - Democratic Services Officer
Mr J Macilwraith - Executive Director - People (Deputy Chief Executive)
Mr D Barton - Assistant Director - Education and Skills
Mr J Rasbash - Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Mrs E Mallinson, Mr B Shirley, Mr A Wonnacott, Mrs 
S Evans, Dr K Lockney and Mr McEwan. 

2 MEMBERSHIP

The new membership was noted. 

3 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest made on this occasion.

4 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public not be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any items of business on the agenda.

7

Agenda Item 5



5 MINUTES

RESOLVED that, the minutes of the meeting held on the 12 February 2019 be 
confirmed as an accurate and complete record. 

6 SEND LOCAL INSPECTION

Consideration was given to the report from Executive Director – People which 
presented the outcomes of the Ofsted SEND local area inspection. 

SEND local area inspections were carried out jointly by Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) to inspect local areas to see how well they fulfilled their 
responsibilities for children and young people with special educational needs and/or 
disabilities.

The Assistant Director – Education and Skills talked members through the outcomes 
of Cumbria’s joint inspection in April 2019 and explained that unlike Children’s 
Services inspections, the inspectors do not give a rating, but produce a report with 
recommendations for improvement.

The Assistant Director explained to members the headline findings of the inspection 
which were as follows:- 

 The impact of the SEND reforms on children, young people and families in 
Cumbria was found to be variable and there has not been enough pace in 
implementing the reforms

 There was found to be a lack of joint working between health, care and 
education and inequitable access to service

 Some parents and carers were found to have lost faith and trust in the local 
area and co-production is weak 

 Leaders were found to be developing a clearer understanding of the main 
strengths and weaknesses

 There were strengths identified within the report which the service must now 
build upon.

Members were then talked through the criteria of the inspection and were showed 
the areas that the service had been found to be delivering effectively and the areas 
where development was needed. As a result of the inspection the local area had 
been issued with a Written Statement of Action (WSoA) of which both the Local 
Authority (LA) and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) are jointly responsible. 
There were 9 key areas highlighted for improvement which would be monitored at 
quarterly visits culminating in a re-inspection in approximately 18 – 24 months. 

8



Cumbria’s WSoA will be submitted by 21 August 2019, it is suggested that in that 
time the Local Authority’s governance structures – Health and Wellbeing Board, 
SEND Improvement Board – Working Groups convene and begin to explore 
detailed action plans. 

Members share their observations regarding some of the more contradictory 
findings in the report and ask about how Cumbria compares with other local areas. 
The Assistant Director – Education and Skills responds that most local area 
inspections have resulted in the issuing of a written statement and explains that 5 
years on from the reforms more local areas are receiving written WSoAs.

Members ask for clarification on the work around alternative provision and the local 
authority’s work with health, education and social care partners. It is explained that 
the proposed resource provision hubs would allow children and young people with 
special educational needs to access support while attending their local schools. It is 
hoped that this would allow for earlier identification and intervention and for 
resources to be distributed more effectively. 

Officers were asked to comment on Cumbria’s success historically with regards to 
inclusion of SEND students in mainstream schools and whether this was still 
possible in a time when resources and funding had become more difficult to attain. It 
was agreed that this was an understandable concern and that limited funding had 
resulted in difficulties but the service as a whole had been exploring new ideas for 
delivering better outcomes. 

The Assistant Director – Learning and Skills clarified to members that 28 schools in 
Cumbria were designated as offering strategic resource provision, and each 
equipped to meet specific individual special educational needs. The proposal 
involved removing the specificity of the designation allowing more flexibility so that 
the needs of children and young people in that catchment area would be better met. 
The strategy would also ensure mainstream schools would be adequately resourced 
to meet the needs of students.

Concerns were raised about the strategic integration of the system and members 
sought assurance that the Local Authority would do more to ensure that the work of 
the Council and the work of partners in health and social care is consistent and that 
solutions are found together so that the local area can regain the trust of parents 
and carers. The Executive Director – People explained to members that the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and the Children’s Trust Board will be primarily 

Officers agreed that this was a priority and assured members that the inspection 
report had now given them the leverage to work more dynamically with partners 
across services. 

Discussion then took place about the increase in permanent exclusions and officers 
were asked whether there was any trend identified. The Assistant Director – 
Learning and Skills explained that while there had been in an increase, the rate of 
SEND pupils was in line with non-SEND pupils, and Cumbria was still better than 
the national average for rates of SEND pupil exclusions.

9



Members ask if more could be done to equip schools to provide earlier interventions 
for those with mental health needs. Officers agree that certain needs are 
preventable if services intervene earlier and assures members that training is 
ongoing to provide teachers with ‘mental health first aid’ skills which together with 
other means of support will mean improvement in their ability to of intervene early. 

A detailed discussion took place regarding concerns over the capacity for teachers 
to take on more responsibility and sought assurance concerning how schools could 
be better incentivised to meet ever growing need. 

The Assistant Director – Learning and Skills explained to members that consultation 
with parents will take place and information had been provided to the media. It was 
AGREED that in conversations with partners a response be produced to reassure 
parents of children and young people with special educational needs.

The Executive Director – People asked members to consider the role of the Scrutiny 
Advisory Board – Children and Young People in driving improvement in the area. It 
was AGREED that regular updates be provided to the Board and a decision be 
taken on whether to create a working group. 

Members thanked officers for the presentation and acknowledged their hard work 
and the hard work of frontline staff. 

It was RESOLVED that,

1) A local area response be produced to reassure parents of children with 
special educational needs

2) That the Board further consider the role they will play in improving the 
service to meet Ofsted and CQC requirements

7 CABINET MEMBER UPDATE

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning discussed with members some of 
the many ways that children and young people with special educational needs or 
difficulties can add to a school. She reflected on her experiences as a teacher and 
highlighted how important it is for the service and for teachers to do their best for all 
children. She also provided an update on a various Department for Education 
consultations that the Council had been responding to.

The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services delivered an update to members on 
the recent meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board. She fed back the findings of 
the latest Foster Carer report which assured members that the service was on track 
to meet recruitment needs by October. Members then heard the latest news 
regarding the newly launched Care Leaver Offer. 

8 CORPORATE DIRECTOR'S UPDATE

10



The Executive Director – People (Deputy Chief Executive) gave an update on a 
number of relevant schemes including Cumbria’s delegation as the location of the 
Regional Adoption Agency. He explained to members that the ‘go live’ date had now 
been delayed until 2020, and so it was AGREED that a comprehensive update be 
given to the Board. 

Members heard that the Strengthening Families application would soon be 
submitted to the Department of Education (DfE) following the Chancellor’s budget 
speech announcement regarding £20 million allocation to Children’s Services to find 
innovative ways to manage demand. This is programme was only made available to 
local authorities with Children’s Services that have a rating of Requires 
Improvement and have higher rates of children looked after than statistical 
neighbours. Cumbria was invited to take part, and members are told that the Council 
will be informed if it has been successful in September as securing political and 
partnership agreement is an important component of the bid. It was AGREED that 
Cumbria submit a bid and that the approach be supported. 

Members were informed of a meeting between officers and the Ofsted - North West 
Regional would take place to discuss the focus of the next Ofsted Children’s 
Services visit. 

The Executive Director – People (Deputy Chief Executive) asked that the Board 
familiarise themselves with the new arrangements for the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board, and so it was AGREED that a presentation be brought to the next 
meeting for the purpose of briefing members on the statutory safeguarding 
requirements. 

It was RESOLVED that, 

1) Cumbria submits an expression of interest in taking part in the 
Strengthening Families Programme.

2) A presentation be brought on the statutory arrangements of the Local 
Safeguarding Children’s Board. 

9 BOARD BRIEFING

The Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor provided an update to members whereby 
he informed them of a member briefing which was due to held on 10 July 2019 on 
the topic of County Lines. The Chief Executive of the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Superintendent will give a presentation that will last 
from 11:00am until 12:30pm in the Council Chambers of County Hall, Kendall.

Members were also informed that arrangements were being made for the delivery of 
a presentation on the work of the Youth Justice Team. 

10 DATE OF NEXT MEETING

11



The next meeting will be held at 10:30 am on 23 September 2019 in Committee 
Room 1, County Offices, Kendal. 

The meeting ended at 12.30 pm

12



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 23 September 2019

From: Executive Director People

SEND LOCAL INSPECTION WRITTEN STATEMENT OF 
ACTION

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide the Board with a presentation on the joint written statement of 
action published in response to the SEND joint local area inspection

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To note the statement.

2.2 To seek assurances around the actions proposed in the statement.

2.3 To note the Scrutiny Performance Working Group will be reviewing the 
performance arrangements in response to the SEND inspection in October.

2.4 To consider how scrutiny can be involved in any improvement activity arising 
from the inspection.

3.0 Background 

3.1 SEND local area inspections are carried out jointly by Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) to inspect local areas to see how well they fulfil their 
responsibilities for children and young people with special educational needs and/or 
disabilities.

3.2 Cumbria had its joint inspection in April 2019. Unlike Children’s Services, the 
inspectors do not give a rating, but produce a report with recommendations for 
improvement.

3.3 Following the inspection the local area, led by Cumbria County Council, NHS North 
Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Morecambe Bay Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group, was required to produce a Written Statement of Action by 
21 August setting out how Cumbria would respond to the inspection report’s 
recommendations.

3.4 The statement has been appended to this report along with the newsletter for 
stakeholders to stay informed of progress.

13

Agenda Item 6



Dan Barton, Assistant Director – Education and Skills

23 September 2019

Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

Appendices

Ofsted letter

Written Statement of Response

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No background.

Background Papers

No background papers.

Contact: Dan Barton, dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk

14

mailto:dan.barton@cumbria.gov.uk


 

Ofsted 
Agora 
6 Cumberland Place 
Nottingham 
NG1 6HJ 

 T 0300 123 1231 

Textphone 0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.go.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted 
lasend.support@ofsted.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 

 

 
25 March 2019 
 
Mr J Macilwraith 
Executive Director of People 
Cumbria County Council 
Cumbria House 
107-117 Botchergate 
Carlisle 
CA1 1RZ 
 
Peter Rooney, Chief Officer, North Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group 
Hilary Fordham, Chief Officer, Morecambe Bay Clinical Commissioning Group  
Amy Holliman, Nominated Officer, Cumbria County Council 
 
 
Dear Mr Macilwraith 
 
Joint local area SEND inspection in Cumbria 
 
Between 18 March 2019 and 22 March 2019, Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC), conducted a joint inspection of the local area of Cumbria to 
judge the effectiveness of the area in implementing the disability and special 
educational needs reforms as set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. 
 
The inspection was led by one of Her Majesty’s Inspectors from Ofsted, with a team 
of inspectors including two Ofsted Inspectors and two children’s services inspectors 
from the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
 
Inspectors spoke with children and young people with special educational needs 
and/or disabilities (SEND), parents and carers, local authority and National Health 
Service (NHS) officers. They visited a range of providers and spoke to leaders, staff 
and governors about how they were implementing the special educational needs 
reforms. Inspectors looked at a range of information about the performance of the 
local area, including the local area’s self-evaluation. Inspectors met with leaders 
from the local area for health, care and education. They reviewed performance data 
and evidence about the local offer and joint commissioning. 
 
As a result of the findings of this inspection and in accordance with the Children Act 
2004 (Joint Area Reviews) Regulations 2015, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector (HMCI) 
has determined that a Written Statement of Action is required because of significant 
areas of weakness in the local area’s practice. HMCI has also determined that the 
local authority and the area’s clinical commissioning groups are jointly responsible 

15



 

 

 

 

 

2 
 

for submitting the written statement to Ofsted. 
 
This letter outlines our findings from the inspection, including some areas of 
strengths and areas for further improvement. 
 

Main findings 
 

 The impact of the SEND reforms on children, young people and families in 
Cumbria is highly variable. Some children and young people have their needs 
identified, assessed and met in a timely and effective manner. Where this is 
the case, outcomes for children and young people are improving. However, 
this is not routinely the case.  

 The local area has been too slow to implement the reforms. System leaders 
have not ensured that the implementation of the reforms has been prioritised 
sufficiently. Leaders have had to contend with significant staffing turbulence 
and structural reorganisation across the health landscape. This, in conjunction 
with an inadequate judgement for children’s services and growing financial 
challenges, has caused leaders to lose focus on the implementation of the 
SEND Code of Practice.  

 Leaders are beginning to develop a clearer understanding of the main 
strengths and weaknesses in the local area’s approach to implementing the 
reforms. They are open and realistic about the improvements that need to be 
made to improve the lived experience of children, young people and their 
families. They are in the process of repositioning oversight of the SEND 
reforms within the council to ensure that the local area’s work in this area is 
given greater priority. 

 Leaders’ understanding of the local area’s effectiveness has been enhanced 
by a recent increase in the amount of consultation that has taken place with 
parents and carers. However, limited performance data and the lack of robust 
contract monitoring means that leaders have insufficient information to 
ensure that they have a precise understanding of where services work well 
and where they do not. This restricts their strategic oversight and impedes 
their ability to plan effectively for improvement generally and within their 
respective areas of responsibility. 

 Leaders’ plans to improve the local area address the broad areas that are key 
to remedying weaknesses and implementing the reforms. Despite this, they 
lack precision and do not contain specific, ambitious and measurable targets 
for improvement. 

 Overall, there is a lack of joint working between health, care and education. 
Leaders across the partnership have not collaborated to plan, commission and 

16



 

 

 

 

 

3 
 

deliver services for children and young people with SEND. Although there are 
promising examples that indicate a potential sea-change in this area, the joint 
commissioning of services remains rare.  

 Many parents and carers have lost faith and trust in the local area. Although 
they are understanding of the local area’s situation and financial limitations, 
they feel as though they must battle to gain access to the services that their 
children require. Many parents and carers feel immense frustration. Some 
report how weaknesses across the local area have taken their toll on their 
own well-being and that of other family members. 

 Co-production is weak. Children, young people and their families have too 
little say in strategic decision-making about services and the support that 
they need. Leaders recognise this and have recently started to involve 
parents and carers more routinely in the re-design of services. For example, 
they have developed parent advisory groups in each of the county’s three 
areas to look creatively at improving the local offer for short breaks and direct 
payments. Where opportunities for co-production are embraced, services 
typically meet the needs of families and lead to positive outcomes. However, 
such examples remain the exception rather than the rule. 

 The local area has not ensured that vulnerable children and young people are 
consistently well supported. In particular, those children and young people 
with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and/or those who face challenges in 
relation to their social, emotional and mental health often do not receive the 
support that they need. This sometimes leads to these children and young 
people falling into crisis. 

 There has been a significant increase in the number of children and young 
people who are permanently excluded from school. In some cases, this leads 
to children and young people being out of formal education for a considerable 
period. The number of children and young people with SEND who are 
electively home educated is also high. Some parents and carers choose to 
electively home educate their children because they feel that schools cannot 
meet their needs. 

 The provision for SEN support children and young people varies markedly 
across the local area. Leaders have a strategy for improving provision for this 
group, but they do not have clear systems and procedures to ensure that this 
strategy is consistently and effectively implemented across settings. 

 Children and young people typically receive effective support that facilitates 
smooth transitions at key points in their lives. For example, children are 
capably supported when joining primary schools. A great deal of planning 
also typically ensures seamless transitions between secondary schools and 

17



 

 

 

 

 

4 
 

post-16 providers. Despite this, transition from child to adult services, 
particularly those related to health, is less coherent. Moreover, children and 
young people are not routinely provided with an adequate level of support to 
prepare them for adulthood. 

 Access to services across the local area is inequitable. For example, special 
schools have variable access to different specialist therapies such as 
occupational therapy and physiotherapy. In some areas, families have 
considerably greater access to short breaks and leisure activities than they do 
in others.  

 Most children, young people and families speak in glowing terms about 
individual professionals who have made a considerable difference to their 
quality of life. There are passionate, skilled and committed front-line workers 
across the partnership who make a discernible difference to families on a 
daily basis. Children and young people describe the warm, respectful and 
productive relationships that they enjoy with staff across the partnership. 

 Some vulnerable groups are particularly well supported. For example, children 
looked after with SEND have their needs championed by the virtual school. 
Those at risk of involvement with the criminal justice system receive effective 
targeted support from the Youth Offending Team (YOT). 

 Many families with children and young people with complex needs benefit 
from the effective arrangements for respite that are available. 

 There are encouraging signs that the partnership is becoming more cohesive 
across the local area. Leaders are united in their recognition that the reforms 
have not been implemented well enough and that the lived experience of 
children, young people and their families has typically not been good enough. 
They share a commitment to working together to improve services. 
Consequently, leaders are beginning to establish the essential pre-conditions 
for the local area to embrace the spirit of the reforms.  

 
The effectiveness of the local area in identifying children and young 
people’s special educational needs and/or disabilities 

Strengths 

 The location of children’s centres has been carefully considered to ensure that 
they are available and accessible to the most deprived and isolated families in 
the county. This helps with the early identification of need for the youngest 
children.  

 The introduction of a new electronic patient record system across the health 

18



 

 

 

 

 

5 
 

partnership has improved information-sharing and the identification of need. 

 Children in the early years with speech, language and communication needs 
are identified effectively as a result of recently improved links between 
speech and language therapists (SALT) and health visitors. Members of the 
SALT team have trained health visitors and staff in early years settings to 
improve the identification of needs in young children. 

 The area has established transition meetings to support children with 
education, health and care (EHC) plans, and those at SEN support stage, as 
they move from early years settings to primary schools. This enables 
coordinated planning between early years settings, schools and specialist 
teaching advisers, which supports the continuing identification of need.  

Areas for development 

 A much higher proportion of primary-age pupils who have SEND are identified 
as having no specialist assessment of need than can be found nationally. 
Long waiting lists to see some specialists have contributed to this. 

 A lower proportion of primary-age and secondary-age pupils who have SEND 
are identified as having speech, language and communication needs than can 
be found nationally. Parents and professionals report that arrangements in 
the local area are less effective at identifying speech, language and 
communication needs that are less obvious. A high proportion of children and 
young people who are known to YOT are identified as having unidentified 
needs relating to their speech, language and communication. 

 There is considerable variation in the delivery of the healthy child programme 
across the county. Health visitors in the south of the county are not routinely 
carrying out antenatal visits, and only provide targeted support to the most 
vulnerable families. This lessens the ability of health visitors to identify need 
in the babies and infants of families who have no previously identified 
vulnerabilities.  

 Systems for identifying emerging and/or less obvious needs in children and 
young people are underdeveloped. Many parents and carers expressed their 
frustration about schools’ unwillingness to identify and assess need if their 
child’s behaviour was not considered to be challenging. Others explained how 
they feel that professionals do not look beyond presenting behaviour to 
identifying underlying needs. 

 Parents have been critical of the information available to them on the Local 
Offer. They feel that it has not been user-friendly and that it has been difficult 
to navigate. They feel that information and signposting primarily takes place 
through word of mouth, which they report can be hit and miss. This limits the 

19



 

 

 

 

 

6 
 

ability of families to identify potential need and to seek advice and support. 
Leaders are aware of these criticisms and have therefore recently made 
significant changes to the way that the Local Offer is presented. 

 There is significant variation in the ability of schools to identify need. This is 
resulting in many pupils who are sent to pupil referral units arriving with 
unidentified and unmet needs that have caused a deterioration in their 
behaviour.  

The effectiveness of the local area in meeting the needs of children and 
young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 

Strengths 

 A much higher proportion of children and young people with SEND are 
educated in mainstream schools and colleges than is typically seen elsewhere. 
Many of these schools cater effectively for pupils’ needs and are highly 
regarded by children, young people and their families.   

 The small number of special schools within the local area work together well 
to ensure that the needs of the children and young people who attend those 
schools are well met. 

 Children, young people and families speak with great fondness of 
professionals across education, health and care who have made a positive 
difference to their lives. They often describe front-line workers going ‘above 
and beyond’ to meet needs. 

 The very large majority of EHC plans are completed within the prescribed 
timeframe, although there is significant variation within the different districts 
that make up the local area. 

 The virtual school adopts a rigorous approach to ensuring that the needs of 
children looked after with SEND are well met. Staff of the school act 
decisively to make sure that children access a provision that can meet their 
needs. They intervene swiftly if they are concerned by a decline in a child or 
young person’s achievement, attendance or behaviour.  

 Close liaison between the SEND and social care teams has strengthened the 
arrangements to safeguard children and young people with SEND.  

 The needs of children and young people known to YOT are identified and met 
well. In many cases, staff from YOT ensure that unmet needs are identified 
through the effective use of screening. In particular, comprehensive and 
holistic assessments help practitioners to identify speech, language and 
communication needs. They then ensure that appropriate support is put in 

20



 

 

 

 

 

7 
 

place. This help has led to a big reduction in the number of young people 
with SEND receiving a custodial sentence. The quality of preventative work 
has also reduced the number of children and young people entering the 
justice system for the first time. 

 There is a strong portage offer which provides support to parents of pre-
school children with additional needs. Portage practitioners provide effective 
and valued support to parents both pre- and post-diagnosis. Portage has 
well-established links with therapy teams, health visitors and the early 
intervention team to ensure that holistic packages of support are in place for 
families who have young children with SEND. 

 The introduction and shared use of a new electronic patient record system 
has significantly supported allied therapy teams to develop coordinated and 
holistic packages of care for children and young people who have multiple 
needs. Improved access to health records is supporting the ‘tell it once’ 
approach for families across health services. 

 Parents are fulsome in their praise of the SEND information, advice and 
support (SENDIAS) service. Several described the service as being 
‘invaluable’. Many parents described how they felt ‘lost’ and unsupported by 
the local area. They told inspectors that staff from the SENDIAS service have 
played a pivotal role in giving them the confidence, knowledge and 
understanding to challenge the local area to do better for their children. 

 There is a good range of county-wide post-diagnostic support for children, 
young people and parents. Families are supported through their involvement 
in workshops that provide them with the knowledge and skills to help their 
children more effectively. For example, sensory and sleep hygiene workshops 
enhance parents’ understanding of their children’s health needs. 

 Many of the most vulnerable children and young people, including those who 
are looked after and those awaiting EHC assessment, are appropriately fast-
tracked for diagnostic assessments. 

Areas for development 

 While there has been an increase in the number of ASD assessments carried 
out locally, some parents told us that they have paid for private ASD 
assessments because they felt that waiting times for specialist paediatric 
assessments were too long. Some parents also told us that they have sought 
assessment out of the local area to gain a second opinion for ASD diagnosis. 
Although there is an established county pathway to access second opinions 
for complex cases, this is also being used when parents do not have faith in 
the assessments that are undertaken locally. 

21



 

 

 

 

 

8 
 

 A relatively small number of families have taken advantage of personal 
budgets. Although some families have benefited from the creative use of 
personal budgets, too few have had their quality of life improved through 
access to this type of funding. 

 The local area’s short breaks offer is too narrow. Parents and carers feel that 
there is too little for older children to do and that many of the opportunities 
that are available are inaccessible. 

 Accessibility of services for children and young people with SEND is 
inequitable across the local area. For example, waiting lists for child and 
adolescent mental health services (CAMHS), although high in all areas, are 
considerably higher in the west of the county. 

 Despite improvements within health, parents and carers do not feel that the 
‘tell it once’ approach is embedded across education, health and care. 
Families feel that they must repeat their story unnecessarily to different 
professionals. 

 There is too much variation in the extent to which mainstream schools meet 
the needs of children and young people with SEND. A number of parents and 
carers expressed their concerns about the ability of their children’s school to 
meet needs.  

 Almost all pupils who are currently without a school placement have SEND. 
The majority of those currently out of school have been without a placement 
for over three months. The local area has no coordinated system for 
monitoring the number of pupils placed on part-time timetables across the 
county. 

 There is a lack of suitable alternative provision across the county. Leaders 
have commissioned three new providers that will begin to address these 
gaps. However, the local area remains over-reliant on out-of-county 
placements for children and young people with particular needs. This puts 
further strain on budgets that are already stretched. It also puts pressure on 
the local area’s pupil referral units. As a result, pupil referral units are unable 
to fulfil their intended purpose, which is to move children and young people 
to more appropriate long-term destinations.  

 The support for special educational needs coordinators (SENCos) is 
inconsistent. Some feel well supported and closely involved in the local area’s 
work, whereas others do not feel well supported. Many SENCOs do not use 
the ‘SEND Handbook’ provided by the local area because they feel it is too 
rigid and therefore unhelpful. This further contributes to the pronounced 
variabilities that exist in the help that is offered to children and young people 

22



 

 

 

 

 

9 
 

who are at the SEN support stage and do not have an EHC plan. 

 Due to weaknesses in the support for children and young people who are 
experiencing difficulties with their emotional and mental health, there has 
been a continuous increase in the number of children and young people 
falling into crisis. These issues are particularly acute among those children 
and young people with ASD. Leaders are aware of this and have begun to 
address the significant capacity issues across the child and adolescent mental 
health and emotional well-being pathway, which has led to a recent increase 
in the number of children and young people accessing support.  

 There are consistent weaknesses in the quality of EHC plans. Plans are not 
being amended and updated in a timely way. Some plans contain information 
that is out of date and no longer relevant. EHC plans do not reflect a 
consistent focus on the voice of the child and their aspirations. Plans are 
typically focused on education at the expense of greater input from health 
and care. This prevents a more holistic approach to meeting the needs of 
children and young people. The lack of care contribution to plans does little to 
address the anxiety and isolation felt by many children and young people. 

 The intended outcomes that are articulated in EHC plans are often vague and 
lack aspiration. The local area has been slow to introduce systems for quality-
assuring plans. However, there are promising signs that the recent 
introduction of closer monitoring is beginning to improve the quality of plans. 

 The parent carer forum lacks influence and does not have the capacity to 
significantly influence the local area and co-produce alongside professionals. 
Very few parents and carers have heard of the forum and the membership of 
the forum does not adequately reflect the diverse range of families who have 
children with SEND.  

 In some cases, schools are not making the reasonable adjustments that are 
required as part of the Equality Act 2010. For example, some parents 
reported that their children were being denied access to trips and visits 
because of their SEND. 

 Information-sharing and communication between midwifery and health 
visiting teams is not always effective. We heard that health visitors are not 
consistently made aware of when diagnostic tests such as scans and 
amniocentesis have indicated that a baby is likely to be born with additional 
needs. This limits the ability of health visitors to put holistic packages of 
support in place for families before babies are discharged home. 

 School staff do not consistently receive training to support children and young 
people with conditions such as anaphylaxis, diabetes or epilepsy. This limits 

23



 

 

 

 

 

10 
 

the ability of school staff to respond appropriately to medical emergencies. 

 There is a lack of planning and provision to ensure that those children and 
young people who have been diagnosed with complex and life-limiting 
conditions have their psychological needs met.  

 The experiences of children, young people and families who require a 
diagnostic assessment vary across Cumbria. In the west of the county, there 
is an established multi-disciplinary child development centre. However, in 
other parts of the county, diagnostic pathways are medic led. This contributes 
to the variation in the accessibility and effectiveness of assessment across the 
local area. 

 There are pronounced variations in the accessibility of the core CAMHS 
service across the county. Children and young people who live in the west of 
the county are experiencing the longest delays, with some young people 
waiting in excess of 80 weeks to access treatment following an assessment.  

 There have been increases in the number of children and young people 
requiring crisis intervention and admission to Tier Four facilities. This 
indicates that there is a significant cohort of children and young people who 
do not have their needs met until they are in crisis.   

The effectiveness of the local area in improving outcomes for children and 
young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 

Strengths 

 Early years settings are well supported by health professionals. Health 
professionals also work closely with mainstream schools to support individual 
children and young people with complex health needs, such as those 
requiring the use of tracheostomies. As a result, many children and young 
people with complex conditions are able to remain in a setting of their choice.  

 Children and young people who have asthma and serious respiratory 
conditions benefit from the support provided by the acute children’s nursing 
team. This helps to prevent repeat hospital admissions and reduces strain on 
primary care partners. 

 Academic outcomes for children and young people who have an EHC plan are 
an established strength. These children and young people achieve 
significantly better than similar children and young people nationally at both 
primary and secondary school. In 2018, children and young people leaving 
secondary school had made particularly impressive progress across the 
curriculum.  

24



 

 

 

 

 

11 
 

 The proportion of young people with SEND who access education, 
employment or training (EET) when they leave secondary school is above the 
national average. The proportion of young people who are in EET post-19 is 
much lower, but this figure has increased dramatically over the last 18 
months. This improvement has been brought about through an increased 
range of post-19 options available to young people with SEND. Careful 
transition planning, including the involvement of the Inspira service, has also 
contributed to this improvement. 

 Attendance at school of children and young people with SEND is much higher 
than that of similar children and young people nationally. 

Areas for improvement 

 Although improving over time, academic outcomes for pupils at the SEN 
support stage have not been as impressive as those with an EHC plan. This 
reflects the inconsistent help that these children and young people receive in 
schools. 

 Despite some recent improvement, too few families take advantage of 
personal budgets and access short breaks. This, coupled with the limited 
leisure opportunities available for different groups of children and young 
people, limits the amount of positive care outcomes for children and young 
people with SEND. 

 Not enough attention is paid to preparing children and young people for 
adulthood. In particular, there is not enough consistent focus on providing 
children and young people with opportunities to develop their employability 
skills or to have a meaningful experience of the world of work. This 
contributes to continued weaknesses in the proportion of adults with a 
learning disability who are in paid employment within Cumbria. 

 Young people do not routinely benefit from a systematic approach to 
preparing them for independent living. As a result, many parents and carers 
feel that the ‘cliff edge’ has simply been moved back from 18 to 25 years of 
age. Many anticipate that their children will be living in the family home for 
the long term. 

The inspection raises significant concerns about the effectiveness of the 
local area. 

The local area is required to produce and submit a Written Statement of Action to 
Ofsted that explains how the local area will tackle the following areas of significant 
weakness: 

 lack of a deep understanding of the needs of the SEND population in the local 

25



 

 

 

 

 

12 
 

area  

 lack of a clear understanding among leaders across the partnership of the 
strengths and weaknesses in their respective areas of responsibility 

 limited joint working, including the planning and commissioning of services to 
meet the needs of those with SEND, between education, health and care 

 lack of trust and faith in the local area’s work from too many parents and 
carers 

 limited involvement of children, young people and their families in the co-
production of the services, resource and support that they need 

 weaknesses in the approach to supporting the emotional health and well-
being of children and young people with SEND, particularly those with ASD 
who face challenges in relation to their social, emotional and mental health 

 inconsistent application of the local area’s strategy for identifying, assessing 
and meeting the needs of children and young people at the SEN support 
stage 

 weaknesses in the local area’s systems for ensuring a smooth transition 
between children and adult services and preparing children and young people 
for adulthood 

 inequities that exist in access to, and performance of, services between 
different geographical areas within Cumbria. 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

Ofsted Care Quality Commission 

Andrew Cook HMI 
 
Regional Director, North West 

Ursula Gallagher 
 
Deputy Chief Inspector, Primary Medical 
Services, Children Health and Justice 

Will Smith 
 
HMI Lead Inspector 

CQC Inspector 
 
Nikki Holmes 

Pat Tate 
 

CQC Inspector 
 

26



 

 

 

 

 

13 
 

Ofsted Inspector Paula Morgan 

Deborah Mason 
 
Ofsted Inspector 

 

 

Cc: Department for Education 
Clinical commissioning groups 
Director of Public Health for the local area 
Department of Health 
NHS England 
 

 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Cumbria Local Area
SEND Written Statement  
of Action  August 2019

  

Draft

29



Contents

Introduction 3

Our Vision 3

Our priorities 4

Working Together 4

Accountability and Governance 6

Working Group 1: Understanding of Local Need 7

Working Group 2: Commissioning and Access to Provision 10

Working Group 3: Engagement and Co-production 15

Working Group 4: Preparation for Adulthood 21

Working Group 5: Emotional Health and Wellbeing 24

Working Group 6: SEN Support 31

SEND Performance Measures 35

Glossary of Terms 36

 2

Cumbria Local Area SEND Written Statement of Action

30



Introduction
This Written Statement of Action (WSoA) has been produced in response to Cumbria’s Local Area 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Inspection undertaken by Ofsted and Care  
Quality Commission between 11th March and 25th March 2019 and sets out the actions that will 
be taken to address the identified areas of concern. 

We know we need to do better for children, young adults, parents and carers in Cumbria. We  
are committed to working in partnership, increasing co-production, and harnessing the expertise  
within the system; including parents, carers, children, young adults and the staff who work to 
support them.

We are committed to ensuring that the parents, carers and the children and young adults  
with SEND themselves are directly and transparently involved in co-producing the services that  
support them; so that that they receive high quality education, care and health provision. 

The findings of the inspection are fully accepted. We recognise the significant challenges faced 
by many children with SEND and their families in Cumbria and we are committed to working  
together across our wider partnership to understand experiences, improve services, and to  
regain the trust of families. 

Senior leaders in Cumbria will prioritise the delivery of the actions outlined within this statement 
of action, and will ensure robust scrutiny of our progress; resulting in improved services and 
experiences for people in Cumbria and making  better use of the available resource to make a 
difference for Cumbrian families. 

Our Vision 

Our Children’s Trust Board vision is that: 

“Cumbria is a great place to grow up and all 
children are healthy, safe and achieving.” 

There is a long way to go for our partnership before we are happy with the level of service we 
provide. We will know we are successful when we can say:

 Children and young adults with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in Cumbria have 
their needs identified and met properly and in a timely manner.

 Our children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities make progress and achieve  
outcomes at least in line with their peers across the country.

 Professionals across the system work in partnership with children, young people and families 
to develop and improve the services that are needed.

 We are consistently compassionate, honest and fair; working with families respectfully and 
with a commitment to co-production.

 We get the best for the people of Cumbria, and people have equal access to outcomes, re-
gardless of where they live.

3 

August 2019

31



Our priorities

The nine areas of concern identified in the SEND inspection letter which the actions in our WSoA 
seek to address are as follows:

1 Lack of a deep understanding of the needs of the SEND population in the local area.

2 Lack of a clear understanding among leaders across the partnership of the strengths and 
weaknesses in their respective areas of responsibility.

3 Limited joint working, including the planning and commissioning of services to meet the 
needs of those with SEND, between education, health and care.

4 Lack of trust and faith in the local area’s work from too many parents and carers.

5 Limited involvement of children, young people and their families in the co-production of the 
services, resource and support that they need.

6 Weaknesses in the approach to supporting the emotional health and well-being of children 
and young people with SEND, particularly those with ASD who face challenges in relation to 
their social, emotional and mental health.

7 Inconsistent application of the local area’s strategy for identifying, assessing and meeting the 
needs of children and young people at the SEN support stage.

8 Weaknesses in the local area’s systems for ensuring a smooth transition between children and 
adult services and preparing children and young people for adulthood.

9 Inequities that exist in access to, and performance of, services between different geographical 
areas within Cumbria.

Working Together

Six thematic groups of work are aligned with the priority areas; their role is to oversee progress 
on action and ensure connectivity across the improvement programme

As part of our commitment to working in partnership with professionals and families, each of  
our priority working groups and the SEND Partnership Improvement Board, will have active  
membership from parents and carers. We are currently working with parents and carers to iden-
tify how meaningful representation can be secured and supported. 

Working together is not just about representation on working groups or the current improvement  
process, we are committed to continually working closely in partnership with parents, carers and 
young people in all areas of activity.

 4

Cumbria Local Area SEND Written Statement of Action

32



Whilst we have separated our working groups to ensure the proper oversight and management 
of progress, it is clear that there will be many actions which are interrelated, and will have  
dependencies with the actions from other groups. Significant actions which have overlaps with 
two or more groups will be monitored closely by the SEND Partnership Improvement Board.

5 

August 2019

Working  
Group

Working Group 1 

Understanding of 
Local Need

Chair: Fiona 
Musgrave AD 
Integration and 

Partnership CCC

Working Group 2 

Commissioning 
and Access to 
Provision 

Chair: Peter 
Rooney Chief 
Operating Officer 
N Cumbria CCG

Working Group 3

Engagement and 
Co-production 

Chair: David 
Blacklock, Chief 
Executive People 
First

Working Group 4 

Transition

Chair: Dan Barton,  
AD Education and 
Skills CCC

Working Group 5 

Emotional Health 
and Wellbeing

Chair: Colin Cox, 
Director of Public 
Health, CCC

Working Group 6  

SEN Support

Chair: Mary 
Mulligan Senior 
Manager  
Inclusion, CCC

Priority  
Areas

Lack of a deep 
understanding of 
the needs of the 
SEND population 
in the local area

Lack of a clear 
understanding 
among leaders  
across the 
partnership of 
the strengths and 
weaknesses in 
their respective 
areas of  
responsibility.

Limited joint 
working, including  
the planning and 
commissioning 
of services to 
meet the needs 
of those with 
SEND, between 
education, health 
and care.

To address  
inequities that 
exist in access 
to and  
performance of 
services between 
different  
geographical 
areas within 
Cumbria.

Lack of trust and 
faith in the local 
area’s work from 
too many parents 
and carers.

Limited  
involvement of 
children, young 
people and their 
families in the 
co-production 
of the services, 
resource and 
support that  
they need.

Weaknesses 
in the local 
area’s systems 
for ensuring a 
smooth transition 
between children 
and adult services  
and preparing 
children and 
young people for 
adulthood.

Strengthen 
and develop 
the approach 
to support the 
emotional health 
and well-being 
of children and 
young people 
with SEND, 
particularly those 
with ASD, who 
face challenges in 
relation to their 
social emotional  
and mental 
health.

Ensure consistent 
application of 
the local area’s 
strategy for  
identifying, 
assessing and 
meeting the 
needs of children 
and young   
people at the  
SEN support 
stage

33



Accountability and Governance

Accountability for the delivery of the WSoA lies with the senior responsible officers from the 
Local Authority (LA) and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs): The Health and Wellbeing Board 
will provide strategic oversight of delivery and will hold these officers to account.

The key line of reporting accountability will be to Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Board which will 
receive regular progress updates. Regular updates will also be provided to the Children’s Trust 
Board and to wider stakeholders across the system including parents and carers.

The SEND Partnership Improvement Board will have a key role in driving forward progress 
against the statement of action and will hold the chairs of the six subgroups to account in  
respect of the delivery of their respective work plans.

The Cabinet Member for Schools and Learning, Councillor Sue Sanderson has responsibility 
for SEND and will sit on the Improvement Board. Progress updates will be received by Cumbria 
County Council and the CCG Governing Bodies.

 6

Cumbria Local Area SEND Written Statement of Action

Working Group 3
Engagement and 

Co-production

Working Group 3
Engagement and 

Co-production

Working Group 3
Engagement and 

Co-production

Working Group 4
Transition

Working Group 5
Emotional Health 

and Wellbeing

Working Group 6
SEN Support

Working Group 2
Commissioning and 
Access to Provision

Working Group 1
Understanding 
Local Needs

NHS North 
Cumbria CCG 

Governing Body

Cumbria 
Children’s Trust 

Board
Cumbria County 
Council Cabinet

SEND Improvement Board 
(Chair - Linda Clegg)

Cumbria Health and  
Wellbeing Board

NHS Morecambe 
Bay CCG 

Governing Body

John Macilwraith
Executive Director of People

Cumbria County Council

Peter Rooney
Chief Operating Officer

North Cumbria CCG

Hilary Fordham
Chief Operating Officer
Morecambe Bay CCG

34



 

7 
 

 

Working Group 1: Understanding of Local Need  

Priority 1 To develop a deep understanding of the needs of the SEND population in the local area. 

Priority 2  
To develop a clear understanding among leaders across the partnership of the strengths and weaknesses in their respective areas of 
responsibility. 

Actions Intended impact 
Measure of success (how 

will we know we are making 
a difference?) 

Responsible 
lead 

Completion date RAG  

1.1 Development and creation of a Local Area Assessment (LAA) 
 

1.1.1 

Engage with local leaders and users of 

SEND services in Cumbria to develop a 

Local Area Assessment including strengths 

and weaknesses 

 

Shared understanding of 
SEND needs across the 
county which inform 
commissioning and 
delivery 
 
 
 
 

Co-produced and iterative 
SEND LAA in place and being 
used to inform commissioning 
and strategic planning for the 
future.  
 
Service user feedback 
 
 
 
 

Population 
Health and 
Children’s 
System Senior 
Manager 
Morecambe 
Bay CCG 
 
 

Initial LAA produced 
Oct 2019 
 

 

1.1.2 

Identify themes for further work and 

associated data sets 

 

November 2019 
 

 

1.1.3 
Hold themed workshops to ensure priorities 
are informed by other working groups and 
children, young people /parents/carers  

January- July 2020  
 

 

1.1.4 

LAA developed in sections following 

focused workshops and regularly updated.  

Publication of an overall document collating 

the themes 

 

 

September 2020  

35



 

8 
 

1.2 Develop a plan to have all NHS and CCC systems include the NHS Number for Children with SEND  
 

1.2.1 
Implement information sharing governance 

 

 
There is one data set of 
information held for 
children and young 
adults who have SEND 
across the system; 
resulting in better 
information to inform 
planning and increased 
confidence 

 
Report produced to identify 
those with/without NHS 
number recorded 
 
All CCC records for children 
and young adults with SEND 
will include NHS Number 

Assistant 
Director 
Integration and 
Partnerships, 
CCC 

December 2019  

1.2.2 Develop robust data sharing arrangements December 2019  

1.2.3 

Complete a one-off task to capture and 

input NHS numbers 

 

All current SEND 
records to have NHS 
Number: January 
2020 

 

1.2.4 

Plan developed to ensure recording of NHS 

number becomes business as usual 

 

Plan developed: 
September 2019 
 
Systematic solution 
in place for business 
as usual by 
September 2020 

 

1.3 Produce a SEND specific Performance Management and Quality Assurance Framework (PMQAF) 
 

1.3.1 

Develop a SEND Performance 

Management and Quality Assurance 

Framework (PMQAF)  

 

 

 
 
 
 
PMQAF used to:  
 

 improve 
performance  

 to celebrate and 
share successes,  

 develop plans to 
resolve areas of 
weakness  

 

 
 
 
 
SEND PMQAF developed and 
signed up to by all key 
partners and scrutinised 
regularly at Board level 
 
Improved monitoring of SEND 
performance 
 
Feedback from staff, children 
and young adults and families 
 
EHCP audits 

Senior 
Commissionin
g Manager 
Children and 
Families North 
Cumbria CCG 

First iteration 
December 2019 
 
 
Review and refresh 
December 2020 

 

1.3.2 

Co-produce a balanced scorecard  Senior 
Commissionin
g Manager 
Children and 
Families North 
Cumbria CCG 

March 2020  
 

 

1.3.3 

Establish a group to oversee performance 
across the whole of the SEND system 

AD Integration 
and 
Partnerships, 
CCC 

September 2019  

36



 

9 
 

 
EHCP review findings 
 
 

  

37



 

10
 

Working Group 2: Commissioning and Access to Provision  

Priority 3 
Limited joint working, including the planning and commissioning of services to meet the needs of those with SEND, between education, 

health and care. 

Priority 9  Address inequities that exist in access to and performance of services between different geographical areas within Cumbria. 

Actions Intended impact 

Measure of success (how will we 

know we are making a 

difference?) 

Responsible 

lead 
Completion date RAG  

2.1 To improve the planning and commissioning of services across Cumbria through stronger joint working between the NHS and Local 

Government, making best use of the available resources.  

2.1.1 Review compliance with the SEND 
Code of Practice (section on joint 
commissioning) and produce review 
report. 
 

Compliance with 
SEND Code of 
Practice 
 
Improved outcomes 
for children, young 
people and their 
families though 
jointly planned 
integrated services.  
 

Review report produced with key 

findings shared with Partnership 

Board.  

Senior 

Manager 

Commissioni

ng, Children, 

CCC 

Sept 2019  

2.1.2 Strengthen the Children’s Joint 
Commissioning Framework  for SEND 

Commissioners are 
clearly sighted on 
whether outcomes 
are being delivered 
with a clear plan for 
improvement.  
Improved outcomes 
for children, young 
people and their 
families though 

Single Commissioning Plan for 
SEND, addressing the areas for 
improvement identified through the 
LAA and through engagement with 
children and young adults and their 
parents/carers. 

Asst. Director 
Strategic 
Commissioni
ng & 
Procurement 
CCC 

December 2019 

 

 

38



 

11 
 

jointly planned 
integrated services.  

2.1.3 Contribute to broader Local 
Government and NHS Joint 
Commissioning Framework currently 
under development across a wider 
range of services, in line with Council 
Plan Delivery Plan 

Learning from SEND 
is embedded in 
broader service 
areas, benefitting all 
children and young 
adults and citizens. 
 

Local Government and NHS Joint 
Commissioning Framework reflects 
the needs of children and young 
adults with SEND 

Asst. Director 
Strategic 
Commissioni
ng & 
Procurement 
CCC  

May 2020 
 

 

  Improved outcomes 
for children, young 
people and their 
families though 
jointly planned 
integrated services.  

    

       

2.1.4 Deliver the commitments we make by 
implementing a shared SEND 
Commissioning plan, which takes into 
account the different needs and 
organisational structures across 
Cumbria. 

Improved 
commissioning leads 
to improved 
outcomes for 
children and young 
adults 

Achievement of all the relevant 
milestones identified in the Single 
SEND Commissioning Plan 

Asst. Director 
Strategic 
Commissioni
ng & 
Procurement 
CCC 

Full 
implementation of 
outcomes based 
commissioning - 
December 2020 

 

2.2 Ensure children and young adults can consistently access services meeting their needs, and removing existing inequities of provision. 
 

2.2.1 Initial review of contract monitoring 

arrangements completed 

 

 

 

Reduced inequities 
in access to, and 
outcomes delivered 
by, services, 
including reducing 
unwarranted 
geographical 
variation. 

Performance monitoring regarding 
inequities of access, provision and 
outcome included in all contracting 
arrangements. 

Asst. Director 

Strategic 

Commissioni

ng & 

Procurement 

CCC  

 

December 2019 

 

 

 

 

       
2.2.2 Develop and implement commissioning 

and provider approaches, in partnership 

Reduce inequities in 
access to, and 
outcomes from, the 

Improvement in service user and 
parent/carer feedback. 
 

Asst. Director 
Strategic 
Commissioni

New contract 
monitoring 
arrangements 

 

39



 

12
 

with children, young people, parents 

and carers, to address inequities in 

individual or bespoke packages, 

including through age transition. 

 

delivery of individual 
or bespoke 
packages. 

Improvement in staff feedback 
regarding their experience of the 
process. 
 
Packages are implemented and 

reviewed to the timescales agreed 

Reduce the inequities identified by 

Ofsted and by Working Group 1 

(baseline to be established) 

 

ng & 
Procurement 
Cumbria 
County 
Council 

implemented - 
December 2020 
 
Joint work with 
Working Group 3 
& 4 to establish 
baselines for 
satisfaction levels 
January 2020 
 
Review current 
processes – 
January 2020 
 
Develop revised 
approaches and 
implement – 
December 2020 
 

2.2.3 Ensure an equitable delivery of the 

Healthy Child Programme in all parts of 

the county. 

 

Reduce inequities in 

access to, and 

outcomes from, the 

Healthy Child 

programme 

services. 

 

Health Visitors in South Cumbria 
carrying out ante natal visits to an 
agreed consistency and standard. 
 
All Health Visitors carrying out the 

5 mandated checks.  

 

Senior 
Manager 
Commissioni
ng, 
Children’s, 
CCC 

KPI for ante-natal 

visit included in 

the contract 

January 2020 

Full compliance 
by December 
2020 

 

2.2.4 Undertake gap analysis based on the 

initial LAA (October 2019) and learning 

from other sources linking to the work 

of Working Group 1  

 

There is a clear 
analysis of current 
services and gaps 
identified 

Programme developed that 
prioritises the joint development 
and commissioning of services 

Senior 
Manager 
Commissioni
ng, 
Children’s, 
CCC 

December 2019 

Commissioning 
Plan revised 
based on 
outcomes of 
Theme 
workshops -Aug 
2020 

 

40



 

13 
 

2.3 Rapidly ensure a range of improvement actions for specific services as identified in the Local Area Assessment. 
 

2.3.1 Develop materials to improve the 

knowledge of Integrated Care 

Communities (ICCs) and Primary Care 

Networks (PCNs) with respect of the 

needs of Children and young adults 

with SEND and their role in meeting 

them. 

 

Improve areas of 
service provision 
identified from the 
LAA  
 
 

Service user and parent/carer 

feedback. 

Briefings delivered to ICCs/PCNs 

Primary Care staff reporting a 
greater awareness of the health 
needs of children and young adults 
with EHCPs. 

Senior 
Commissioni
ng Manager, 
Children and 
Families, NC 
CCG (North) 
& Population 
Health  
 
Children’s 
System 
Senior 
Manager, MB 
CCG (for 
South). 

Apr 2020  

       

2.3.2 Rapidly address the availability of 

psychological support for children: 

a) With life-limiting illness or who 

are receiving palliative care. 

b) Who have long-term conditions  

 

Children and young 
adults with physical 
health conditions will 
be able to access 
psychological 
support that they 
need 

Feedback from children and young 

adults and parents/carers on their 

experience of being supported. 

Performance monitoring of the 
pathway. 

Senior 
Commissioni
ng Manager, 
Children and 
Families, NC 
CCG (North)  
  
Population 
Health and 
Children’s 
System 
Senior 
Manager, MB 
CCG (for 
South). 

Existing 
arrangements 
reviewed and 
strengthened – 
Nov 2019 
 
Option appraisal 
for meeting needs 
and service 
improvement – 
December 2019 
 
Services 
commissioned 
and in place July 
2020 group a) 
and in progress 
for group b) 

 

41



 

14
 

Draft - Oct 2019 
Signed off - 
January 2020 

2.3.3 Establish (and sign off) joint service 
specifications for Occupational Therapy 
and Speech and Language Therapy. 

Children and 

families experience 

equitable and 

effective outcome-

based services  

 

Agreed and signed off Joint 

Service Specification for OT and 

SaLT 

Feedback from children, young 
adults and families 

Senior 
Manager 
Commissioni
ng, 
Children’s, 
CCC 

January 2020  

2.3.4 Review and use commissioning 
arrangements to deliver improvements 
for children and young adults with 
SEND including: 

 NHS arrangements regarding the 
Policy for transition from children 
and families health services and 
NICE QS 140 
 

Revise existing commissioning 
arrangements to reflect the 
requirements of the SEND Code of 
Practice and embed the changes 
needed to deliver cultural change 
 

Young people and 
families have an 
improved experience 
of preparing for 
transition to adult 
services 

Feedback from children, young 
adults and families 
 
Compliance with NICE QS 140 
quality statements. 

Senior 
Commissioni
ng Manager, 
Children and 
Families, NC 
CCG (North)  
 
Population 
Health and 
Children’s 
System 
Senior 
Manager, MB 
CCG (South) 
 

Review 
undertaken - 
March 2020 
 

 

2.3.5 Develop 80 further Alternative Provision 
(AP) places across the North and South 
of the county 

More children with 
social, emotional 
and mental health 
difficulties are able 
to access suitable 
education provision 

Full occupancy of new places 
 
Educational outcomes for young 
people in provision are better than 
similar cohorts nationally 

AD 
Education 
and Skills, 
CCC 
 

September 2020  

  

42

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs140


 

15 
 

Working Group 3: Engagement and Co-production  

Priority 4 Re-establish and strengthen parents’ and carers’ trust and faith in the local area’s work  

Priority 5  
Establish and develop ways to ensure the close involvement of children, young people and their families in the co-production of the 

services, resources and support that they need. 

Actions Intended impact 

Measure of success (how will 

we know we are making a 

difference?) 

Responsible 

lead 
Completion date RAG  

3.1.1 Review existing data and feedback 

from children, young adults  & families 

to establish: 

a. What we already know 

b. What we have already done 

c. What we have not yet 

responded to 

 

Clear understanding 
for all system 
leaders of the 
priority areas 
identified by our 
SEND families and 
CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG ADULTS. 

Summary report and forward 

plan of engagement produced. 

 

CEO People First 

 

November 2019 

 

 

3.1.2 Use this intelligence to produce a 
report and a plan 

January 2020  

3.2 Develop, implement and support a Parent/ Carer Reference Group. 

3.2.1 Hold initial meetings of parents and 
carers to develop the Reference 
Group 

Parents, carers and 

families have the 

opportunity to share 

their views and have 

input into current 

and future 

programmes of 

work. 

Reference Group in place and 

working in line with Terms of 

Reference (TOR) 

 

 

CEO People First 

 

August 2019 
initial meeting 
 

September 2019 

second meeting 

 

 

3.2.2 Develop and agree TOR, 
communicate purpose of group, 

September 2019  

43



 

16 
 

programme of meetings published 
and report on initial meeting produced 

Development of 

better working 

relationships and 

improved visibility of 

current and future 

programmes of 

work. 

 

 

3.3 Support parents and carers to engage with the SEND Improvement programme.  

3.3.1 Hold initial meeting with parents and 

carers who have expressed an 

interest in being involved 

  

Parents and carers 

are engaged in the 

improvement 

journey.  

All SEND priority 

group outcomes are 

delivered 

successfully. 

 

Regular attendance of reps at 

sub-group meetings, positive 

feedback at monitoring visits. 

Buddies to access support 

provided. 

Review of functionality of 

working group meetings. 

 

 

CEO People First 

 

August 2019 

 

 

 

3.3.2 Meeting “buddies” allocated.  

 

September 2019 

 

 

3.3.3 Parent/carer training delivered October 2019  

3.3.4 Parents and carers attending working 
groups 

October 2019  

3.3.5 Review of working group meetings, 
TORs and functionality 

January 2010  

3.4 Establish a draft co-production and engagement plan which supports and encourages parents, carers, children and young adults to get involved 

with the SEND improvement programme and other relevant areas of change.  

3.4.1 Identify priority areas for co-production 

and engagement, in partnership with 

other working groups, parents and 

carers  

 

Re-establish positive 

contact with parents, 

carers, children and 

young adults 

Parents, carers, families and 
children and young adults report 
a higher level of engagement 
and involvement 

CEO People First 

 

November 2019  

44



 

17
 

3.4.2 Undertake engagement session with 

Parents & carers on priority areas 

 

 

 

Offer multiple 
opportunities for 
parents, carers, 
children and young 
adults to engage 
with and co-produce 
service 
improvements and 
re-design. 

December 2019 

 

 

3.4.3 Undertake engagement session with 
children and young adults on priority 
areas 

December 2019  

3.5 Conduct parent/carer survey to establish baseline benchmark data on parent carer experience/perception (repeat annually). 

 

3.5.1 Launch annual survey with parents 
and carers 

Ability to track 
improvements in 
service provision 
over time and 
identify emerging 
trends. 
 

Independent survey sent to 

families, children and young 

adults. 

Monitoring of response rate to 

survey – target 25%. 

Communications 

Business Partner, 

CCC 

 

November 2019 
(to be repeated 
November 2020) 

 

3.5.2 Analysis of survey produced January 2020  

3.6 Support system leaders to embed the principles of co-production and engagement to be utilised with parents, carers, children and young adults 

with SEND. 

3.6.1 Define and develop a co-production/ 

engagement charter and toolkit for 

use by staff across the system – and 

identify how this will be rolled out and 

embedded including identifying any 

training needs 

Staff across the 

system are clear 

about which 

methods of co-

production and 

engagement should 

be utilised when 

working with 

children, young 

Feedback from staff and those 

receiving support. 

 

Evaluation of training delivered 

to parents/carers. 

 

Evaluation of training delivered 
to children and young adults 

Commissioning 

Manager C&F 

NCCCG 

 

CEO People First 

December 2019  

45



 

18 
 

3.6.2 Define and develop a co-production 
and engagement training package for 
parents and carers 

adults, and families 

to achieve best 

outcomes and 

consistency. 

Engagement and co-

production becomes 

implicit and part of 

best practice. 

December 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6.3 Define and develop a co-production 

and engagement training package for 

children and young adults  

 

December 2019  

3.6.4 Delivery of co-production and 

engagement training.  

 

 

 

 

January 2020 

 

 

 
3.7 Engage directly with children and young adults – with specific priorities including: those who require higher levels of support, 18-25 years, non-
complex children and young adults 

3.7.1 Identification of target groups for 

engagement 

Ensuring that the 

‘voice’ of children 

and young adults is 

at the heart of all our 

Programme of engagement 

events across Cumbria with 

children and young adults  

Commissioning 

Manager C&F 

NCCCG 

October 2019   

46



 

19
 

3.7.2 Develop and implement programme of 
engagement events 

services and 

strategies. 

October 2019 and 
ongoing 

 

3.8 Review/refresh the parent carer forum structure to clarify and define its aims, goals and objectives. 

3.8.1 Use the findings from the survey 
detailed in 3.5 to: understand the 
challenge, identify support available 
and identify any gaps 
 
 

A forum that works 
for all families.   
 
Increased 
engagement 
Clear demonstration 
of hearing the ‘voice’ 
of the child or young 
adult. 
 
Demonstration of 
greater joint 
planning, provision 
and better outcomes 
for families. 
 

Feedback from parents and 
carers 
 
Numbers engaging in the forum 
and wider improvement process 
and participating in the survey 

AD Education 
and Skills, CCC 

January 2020  

3.8.2 Co-produce redefined Terms of 
Reference (TOR) for the forum 

   April 2020  

3.9 Engage with parents and carers to understand the challenges experienced when accessing the Local Offer in Cumbria 

47



 

20 
 

3.9.1 Provide support, training and 

awareness sessions to improve their 

experience. 

 

Clearer 

understanding of the 

challenges and what 

can be done to 

support people to 

access information 

easily. 

Enhanced 
awareness and 
accessibility of the 
Local Offer. 

Increased numbers of families, 
young people, colleagues and 
professionals accessing the 
Local Offer. 

AD Education 
and Skills, CCC 
 
SEND Local Offer 
Officer, CCC 

Facilitation of 

initial 

engagement 

sessions and a 

programme of 

future dates 

agreed December 

2019  

 

3.9.2 Delivery of training sessions with 

schools, provider organisations, 

stakeholders, voluntary/3rd sector 

partners and Families.  

A programme of 
dates to be 
agreed December 
2019 

 

 

  

48



 

21 
 

Working Group 4: Preparation for Adulthood  

Priority 8 Ensure that the local area’s systems are improved to ensure a smooth transition between children and adult services and to ensure that 

children and young adults are prepared for adulthood 

Actions Intended impact 

Measure of success (how will we 

know we are making a 

difference?) 

Responsible 

lead 
Completion date RAG  

 
4.1 Review current resources and pathway to identify changes to better support those with SEND through the transition process with an emphasis on 

those aged 14-25 

4.1.1 Begin information gathering and mapping  

of existing pathways and resources 

 

An improved 

coherent experience 

of transition to 

adulthood with 

reduced anxiety and 

increase of positive 

experiences for 

children with SEND 

and their 

parents/carers. 

To ensure that an 

individual’s complex 

health needs are 

met as they 

transition into 

adulthood. 

 Service user feedback – 

increase in % of parents 

and carers reporting a 

positive experience 

 

Establish baseline figures and 

set KPIs for the following: 

 Increase of people 

accessing “Ready Steady 

Go”  

 Increase in learning 

disability health checks via 

GP 

 Increase in uptake of 

hospital passports 

 Yr 9 health check – 

improved outcomes 

 Yr 9 ECHP reviews  

Assistant 
Director 
Education & 
Skills, CCC 

October 2019  

4.1.2 Complete information gathering and 
mapping 

January 2020  

4.1.3 Begin transition problem-solving surgery March 2020  

4.1.4 Develop and implement system for 
seamless health care community 

October 2019 – 

November 2020 

 

 

 

4.1.5 

 

Develop full transitions performance 

scorecard to be published quarterly  

 

  

 

June 2020 (Q1) 

 

 

 

 

49



 

22 
 

 Destination data 

 Implementation and 
monitoring of KPIs and 
audits  

 Quarterly data report 

identifying progress from 

children’s to adults 

continuing care 

 

 

 

 

4.2 Review and update transition protocol and develop family friendly roadmap 

4.2.1 Review existing protocol with 

parent/carers, young people, front line 

staff and system leaders 

 

Young people and 

families have an 

improved experience 

of transitioning to 

adult services  

Improved 
signposting and 
communication 

 Children, young people and 

families report a good 

experience of transition  

 Evidence of staff attending 

training on transition policy 

and preparing for adulthood  

 Evidence of co-produced 

preparation for adulthood 

information/resources 

 Number of page 
views/downloads  (local 
offer) 

Associate 

Director of 

Operations 

Children and 

Families, 

CPFT 

 

December 2019  

4.2.2 Draft roadmap developed 
 

April 2020  

4.2.3 Develop audit process 
 

September 2020  

4.2.4 Publication of final document September 2020  

4.2.5 Six month review of roadmap From March 2021  

4.3 Establish a rolling programme of Transition Fairs building on the learning from the successful event held earlier this year 
 

4.3.1 Capture learning and feedback from the 
Transition Fair held in July 2019 

Improved 

signposting and 

communication 

Reduced anxiety 

 

Feedback forms 

Parental survey 

 

Assistant 
Director 
Education & 
Skills, CCC 

September 2019  

4.3.2 Produce a schedule of fairs December 2019  

4.3.3 Plan and deliver second Transition Fair April 2020  

4.4. Development of a pathway for young people who have unidentified CHC (continuing health care) needs  
 

50



 

23 
 

4.4.1 
 

Develop a pathway for children and young 
adults with unidentified CHC needs (not 
currently in receipt of CC) that sets out 
roles, responsibilities and the process for 
assessment and agreeing CHC packages 
of care (links to action 4.1) 
 
 
 

To ensure that an 
individual’s complex 
health needs are 
properly identified in 
order for them to be 
met as they 
transition into 
adulthood. 

 Development of end-to-end 

CHC pathway 

 Evidence of relevant staff 

attending training on CHC 

and the pathway 

 Quarterly data report 

identifying individuals who 

may be eligible for CHC 

and progress of the CHC 

process (i.e. assessment to 

package implementation). 

 % of CHC packages in 

place before 18th birthday 

Continuing 

Health Care 

Commissioni

ng Manager 

North 

Cumbria 

CCG 

Chief Nurse 
(South) 

October 2020  

4.5 Develop a “Preparation for Independent Living Strategy” via co-production, including development of provision and publication of clearly defined 

pathways 

4.5.1 Engagement to define ‘independent living’ Shared 
understanding of key 
concepts 
 
Local provision for 
independent living is 
available post 19 
 

 Family feedback  

 Case studies  

 Implementation of strategy 
 

Assistant 
Director 
Education & 
Skills, CCC 

December 2019  

4.5.2 Develop and share definition with system February 2020  

4.5.3 Use definition to map provision June 2020  

4.5.4 Explore funding from DSG through 
schools’ forum 

September 2020  

4.5.5 Plan additional provision April 2021  

4.5.6 Launch of new arrangements September 2021  

 
4.6 Co-produce an approach to transitioning from short break facilities suitable for children, to facilities suitable for adults 

4.6.1 Engagement with families and providers To improve the  
support children and 
their families receive 
when they are being 

 Feedback from families 

 Feedback from short breaks 

facilities 

Senior 
Manager 
Inclusion, 
CCC 

December 2019 

 

 

4.6.2 Design model for short breaks transition May 2020  

51



 

24
 

4.6.3 Explore opportunities for alterations to 

commissioned services 

introduced to new 
short breaks 
facilities/people, 
improving their 
experience of 
transition 

 Young people and their 

families continue to use the 

facilities 

 

 
Senior 
Manager 
Operations 
Adults, CCC 

September 2020  

4.6.4 Commence new arrangements 
 

October 2020  

4.7 Improve the opportunities for those with young people with additional needs to have experience of employability skills and develop work experience 

pathways 

4.7.1 Initial engagement with ‘All of Us’  

(children and young adults SEND forum) 

Improved skills and 

therefore improved 

opportunities and 

employability 

 Increase in numbers of 

people with SEND in 

employment 

 Increase in numbers of 
those with SEND in 
apprenticeships, 
traineeships and 
volunteering positions 

Assistant 

Director 

Education & 

Skills, CCC 

September 2019  

4.7.2 Co-produced development of pathways 

and training  

September 2020 

 

 

4.7.3 Implementation  July 2021  

  

52



 

25
 

Working Group 5: Emotional Health and Wellbeing  

Priority 6  Strengthen and develop the approach to support the emotional health and well-being of children and young adults with SEND, particularly 

those with ASD, who face challenges in relation to their social, emotional and mental health. 

Actions Intended impact 

Measure of success (how will 

we know we are making a 

difference?) 

Responsi

ble lead 

Completion 

date 
RAG  

5.1 Understand the strengths, weaknesses and gaps in our existing approach 

5.1.1 Conduct surveys and focus groups to 

understand how children and young 

adults 0-25, parent/carers get advice 

and support, and the effectiveness of 

this, in relation to emotional health 

wellbeing (EHWB) and mental health 

(MH). 

(in partnership with working group 3) 

To gain a comprehensive 

understanding from a parent/carer 

and young peoples’ perspective on 

what are the strengths, 

weaknesses and gaps in relation to 

meeting the EHWB & MH needs of 

children and young adults with 

SEND and particularly those with 

ASC. 

We are able to understand and 

articulate what works well for 

families and what could be 

improved.  

This intelligence will then be used 

to strengthen and develop the 

EHWB and MH approach   

Director of 

Public 

Health, 

CCC 

December 

2019 

 

5.1.2 Conduct surveys and focus groups to 

understand how well equipped staff 

in schools are to meet the EHWB & 

MH needs of 0-25s with SEND, as 

against best practice. 

To gain a comprehensive 

understanding from a school 

perspective on staff confidence and 

competence to meet the EHWB & 

MH needs of 0-25s with SEND in 

schools. 

We are able to understand and 

articulate how confident and 

competent staff are to meet the 

EHWB & MH needs of 0-25s in 

schools.  

This intelligence will then be used 

to inform a workforce 

development plan to address the 

gaps and weaknesses. 

Director of 

Public 

Health, 

CCC 

February 

2020 

 

53



 

26 
 

5.1.3 Conduct assessments (e.g. Green 

Light Toolkit), surveys and focus 

groups to understand how well 

equipped staff working in targeted 

and specialist mental health services 

are to meet the needs of 0-25s with 

SEND. 

To gain a comprehensive 

understanding of staff confidence 

and competence to meet the 

EHWB & MH needs of children and 

young adults with SEND in targeted 

and specialist mental health 

services 

We are able to understand and 

articulate how effectively targeted 

and specialist mental health 

services meet the EHWB & MH 

needs of children and young 

adults with SEND.  

This intelligence will then be used 

to inform a workforce 

development plan to address the 

gaps and weaknesses. 

Director of 

Public 

Health, 

CCC 

February 

2020 

 

5.1.4 Establish service performance data 

on 0-25s with SEND who are 

accessing EHWB & MH services - 

including those who are home 

schooled, out of provision or NEET - 

to gain an understanding of the 

cohort and their experiences (e.g.: do 

they wait longer to access services 

(in partnership with working group 1) 

To gain a comprehensive 

understanding of how people with 

SEND, including Autism access the 

service compared to the wider 

population. 

 

Ongoing performance information 

will be available and will indicate 

the extent to which children and 

young adults with SEND are 

disadvantaged with regards to 

waiting for services, outcomes of 

intervention and their experience 

of services.  

This intelligence will then be used 

to target improvements within 

services to ensure that children 

and young adults with SEND are 

not unduly disadvantaged. 

To be able to articulate the 

number of children with Autism 

who are placed in out of county 

specialist residential provision. 

Director of 

Public 

Health, 

CCC 

March 2020  

54



 

27 
 

5.1.5 Review services against current 

NICE Guidance for autism to identify 

weaknesses and gaps with regards 

to meeting EHWB & MH needs for 

children and young adults. 

To gain a comprehensive 

understanding of how well the local 

area meets NICE guidance for 

children and young adults with 

autism. 

We understand and can articulate 

strengths, weaknesses and gaps 

in how well the local area 

adheres to NICE guidance.  

This intelligence will then be used 

to strengthen and develop the 

EHWB & MH approach. 

Associate 

Director of 

Nursing, 

Mental 

Health & 

Learning 

Disability 

Care 

Group, 

CPFT) 

Februaryrua

ry 2020 

 

5.1.6 Review current 0-19 Healthy Child 

Programme delivery to identify any 

gaps, weaknesses and strengths in 

responding to EHWB and MH needs 

to inform future commissioned 

services. 

(in partnership with working group 2) 

To gain a comprehensive 

understanding of how current 

service delivery is identifying and 

meeting needs of children and 

young adults with SEND, including 

Autism. 

Future commissioned services 

will better meet identified needs 

more consistently including 

earlier identification. 

Director of 

Public 

Health, 

CCC 

December 

2019 

 

5.1.7 Ensure a clear understanding of the 

impact of the strength-based 

interventions delivered through the 

new Child and Family Support 

Service intended to build and support 

resilience and emotional wellbeing 

through a ‘whole family’ approach. 

(in partnership with working groups 2 

and 3) 

To determine how these newly 

recommissioned services are 

impacting on children and young 

adults and their families. 

Children and young adults report 

improved emotional well-being 

and increased resilience (pre and 

post intervention) and their 

families feel better able and 

equipped to support their child. 

Director of 

Public 

Health, 

CCC 

December 

2020 

 

55



 

28 
 

5.2 Use this intelligence to co-produce an approach which addresses the weaknesses and gaps in meeting the EHWB needs of CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

ADULTS with SEND 

5.2.1 Collate and share all the intelligence 

gathered from section 1 into an easy 

read report that systematically details 

the local area’s strengths 

weaknesses and gaps in meeting the 

EHWB &MH needs of children and 

young adults with SEND. This report 

is to be shared with families and 

system leaders.  

Use the findings of the report to hold 
a series of solution focused 
workshops with children and young 
adults and families to answer the 
question, “how can we improve 
weaknesses and address gaps to 
better meet the EHWB & MH needs 
of children and young adults with 
SEND, and particularly autism” 

Children, young adults and families 

feel that we have listened to them, 

we understand their views and that 

we have acknowledged their 

concerns and worries are 

important. 

Children, young adults and families 

co-produce and shape the 

improvement plan. They 

understand the constraints and 

limitations of the system and they 

trust us to make improvements to 

services that are meaningful to 

them. 

System leaders and families have a 

systematic and thorough 

understanding of the strengths, 

weaknesses and gaps in our 

approach and can use this 

information to inform the plan to 

make meaningful improvements to 

services. 

 

Families tell us that they have felt 

listened to and understood via 

surveys and workshop feedback. 

We have identified improvement 

ideas that are meaningful to 

families and we can demonstrate 

that these ideas have been 

developed from families’ views, 

e.g. via creating a “you said, we 

will do” document. 

System leaders demonstrate 

clear understanding of needs of 

children and young adults with 

SEND, including Autism and are 

mindful of that as part of wider 

strategic development. 

GP Lead 
North 

Cumbria 
CCG 

 

December 
2020 

 

5.3 Identify key existing plans that are pertinent to EHWB and MH needs of CHILDREN AND YOUNG ADULTS with SEND, including Autism 

5.3.1 

 

Identify key plans within the system – 

and in turn key actions within those – 
We will have a portfolio of 

understanding collating all actions 

 We develop an overview 
of those key plans and 

  

July 2020 

 

56



 

29 
 

to provide an overview of how each 

could help to address gaps and 

weaknesses in our approach to 

meeting the EHWB and MH needs of 

children and young adults with 

SEND, with a particular focus on 

Autism. 

 

needed, across the raft of action 

plans, to address identified gaps 

and weaknesses in our approach to 

meeting the needs of children and 

young adults with SEND, including 

Autism. 

As we start to implement the plan: 

 families will tell us what the 

strengths, weaknesses and 

gaps are in relation to 

meeting the EHWB and MH 

needs of 0-25s with SEND, 

including Autism; 

 we will have service 

performance data that tells 

us how many 0-25s with 

SEND, including Autism, 

are accessing EHWB and 

MH services; 

 staff will report being more 

confident in how well 

equipped they are to meet 

the EHWB and MH needs 

of 0-25s with SEND, 

including Autism. 

 

actions, which in turn 
informs the following: 

 Our approach for the 

prevention and early 

identification of EHWB & 

MH issues for 0-25s with 

SEND, including Autism. 

 our approach for meeting 

the EHWB & MH needs of 

children and young adults 

with SEND; 

 We will provide regular 

progress updates to 

system leaders and 

families against the plan 

which includes a “you 

said, we did” section. 

 Families will tell us that 

they are better able to 

meet children and young 

adults with SEND EHWB 

& MH needs via surveys 

and focus groups. 

 We have quantitative and 

qualitative service data 

which demonstrates 

improvements in how 

services meet EHWB & 

MH needs. 

 Identifying opportunities 

for improving systems and 

Commissi

oning 

Support 

Manager, 

Children 

and 

Maternity 

MBCCG 

57



 

30 
 

implementing those 

improvements in advance 

of the full plan being 

signed off. 

5.4 Existing intelligence identifies a number of actions that will need to be included in planned action going forward 

5.4.1 

 

 

Influence north and south health 

systems to ensure equity of access 

to support, through available tools 

used in SPA for north and SPA for 

south arrangements, including triage 

and prioritisation of work. 

 

Ensuring that people are not 

referred from one area to another 

to access services, but instead are 

directed within services. 

Services will be able to 

demonstrate co-production of 

criteria with families. 

Commissi

oning 

Support 

Manager, 

Children 

and 

Maternity 

MBCCG 

December 

2019 

 

5.4.2 Support schools to audit, against a 

set of standards, their good 

practice relative to anxiety, 

autism, attachment difficulties 

and helping to create culture 

change; 

To develop a programme of sharing 

good practice across networks. 

Schools are more confident in 

dealing with these issues and 

experienced as a more positive 

environment by children and young 

adults. 

Baseline and audit informs 

service improvement going 

forward; improvements in audit 

results evident in the annual 

survey  

Director of 

Public 

Health, 

CCC 

July 2021  

 

  

58



 

31 
 

 

Working Group 6: SEN Support  

Priority 7 Ensure consistent application of the local area’s strategy for identifying, assessing and meeting the needs of children and young adults at 

the SEN support stage 

Actions   Intended impact  Measure of success (how will we 

know we are making a 

difference?) 

Responsible 

lead 

Completion date  RAG  

6.1 Review systems and processes to ensure that the approach for supporting children with SEND is consistently and effectively implemented across 

settings in order to address inequities in provision 

6.1.1 Develop outreach work from specialist 

provision to support mainstream schools 

in early identification and intervention. 

 

Children at SEN 

support receive the 

support they need 

consistently across 

settings, to enable 

them to achieve their 

potential 

Mainstream schools 

will better able to 

identify needs early 

and support 

appropriately. 

 

 Improved academic 

outcomes for pupils with 

SEN support as evidenced 

in SEND performance data. 

 children and young adults 

parents and carers will tell 

us that they feel supported 

 Schools and settings will tell 

us they have the skills and 

expertise to support 

children and young adults 

at SEN support stage 

 Feedback from SENCOs 

and audits will indicate 

increased confidence and 

knowledge 

Senior 
Manager 
Inclusion, 
CCC 

September 2019  

6.1.2 Establish working group to review the 

SEND handbook and how it is working 

 

October 2019  

6.1.3 Review guidance for schools about their 

responsibilities regarding children with 

SEND  

 

October 2019  

6.1.4 Annual programme of network meetings 

for SENCO networks will be established 

 

November 2019  

6.1.5 Develop and deliver countywide annual 

training programme for SENCOs 

 

November 2019  

59



 

32 
 

6.1.6 Deliver training for SENCOs in using the 

Handbook, understanding the Code Of 

Practice and local guidance. 

 Census data will more 

accurately reflect individual 

need and a reduction in 

NSA category. 

 Reduction in number of 

children requiring specialist 

intervention 

 Reduction in number of 

requests for EHC Plan 

 Children and young adults 

parents and carers will 

report more confidence in 

schools to identify and meet 

need 

 

 March 2020  

6.1.7 Develop clear guidance and framework 

for SEMH support via existing Behaviour 

Leaders Group (Link with working group 

5) 

 

January 2020  

6.1.8 Carry out a joint piece of work around 

early help with colleagues in social care 

to clarify process and link to thresholds 

 

July 2020  

6.1.9 Set up an effective monitoring system to 

ensure consistency of application 

 

March 2020  

6.1.10 Set up mechanism to support and 

challenge schools on their 

responsibilities for children with SEND 

 

July 2020  

6.1.11 Through service re-design create 
discrete SEND service manager post 
within CCC to provide dedicated strategic 
oversight across the county 

Consultation 
launch 
September 2019 
 

 

 
New service 
place by March 
2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

60



 

33
 

6.2 Ensure that systems for identifying emerging or less obvious needs in children and young adults are established/further developed. Strengthen 

system to identify speech, language and communication needs and SEMH (link with group 5) for primary and secondary school children. 

 

6.2.1 Develop and promote specific training for 

SENCOs  

 

Children at SEN 
support with these 
needs receive the 
support they need 
consistently across 
settings, to enable 
them to achieve their 
potential 

 The proportion of children 

with these needs will be 

accurately reflected in the 

census data and in line with 

statistical neighbours 

 Parents, carers will report 
their child’s needs were 
identified in a timely way. 

Principal 
Educational 
Psychologist, 
CCC 

June 2020  

6.2.2 Develop case studies of effective 

practice in relation to SEMH and SLCN 

 

December 2020 

 

 

6.3 Establish systems to record and monitor pupils who are on part-time timetables or without a school placement. 

6.3.1 Work with partners to create more 
accessible provision for those young 
people who cannot attend school 
regularly but who are on a school roll 

Children are 

receiving provision 

appropriate to their 

current needs in line 

with relevant 

guidance. 

 

 School records will reflect 

this more accurately. 

 Children’s need are better 

met and parental feedback 

has improved 

 Reduction in number of 

children without a school 

placement 

Area Service 
Manager 
Inclusion, 
CCC  

October 2019  

6.3.2 Work with schools to ensure those young 
people who could access such provision 
are placed on a school roll and supported 
to access 

October 2019  

6.3.3 Review and reissue the guidance of 

when or if it would be appropriate for 

children to be placed on part time 

timetables (include in toolkit) 

 

January 2020  

6.3.4 Review and issue new  Hospital Home 

Tuition (HHT) guidance  

 

January 2020  

6.3.5 Deliver session on SEND at CASH and 

PHA conferences next academic year 

 

March 2020  

61



 

34 
 

6.3.6 Learning Improvement Service (LIS) will 
add this subject to their training for 
school governors 

March 2020  

6.3.7 Develop and deliver training for LIS 
General Advisors to include detail on 
SEND 

September 2019 

– June 2020 

 

6.4 Work with CASL and LASL to ensure that schools are making reasonable adjustments for pupils with SEND. 

6.4.1 Complete an annual analysis of 

compliments/complaints for Inclusion 

Service and produce a you said/we did 

report 

 

Children are not 
discriminated 
against or 
disadvantaged in 
settings 

 Feedback from schools  

 Increased confidence from  

LA staff on their knowledge 

and ability to challenge 

schools 

 Reduction in enquiries to 

SENDIASS for help on this 

issue 

 Reduction in complaints 

from parents to LA  

 

Senior 
Manager 
Inclusion, 
CCC 

January2020 

 

 

6.4.2 Increase awareness with schools and LA 

staff  regarding legal duty to make 

reasonable adjustments for children and 

young adults with SEND to ensure they 

are treated fairly and can stay in their 

school placement  

 

General 

Cross Phase 

Advisor, CCC 

 

March 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

62



35 

August 2019

SEND Performance Measures
One of our key priorities as detailed under Working Group 1 ‘Understanding of Local Need’ is 
the development of a comprehensive suite of performance measures across the SEND system, 
including agreed targets. (Action 1.3) Outlined below are some of the measures we will be  
using to track progress. We will continue to develop and refine these over coming months.

*Health measures are not all specific to SEND (they refer to the wider population); future aim/
plan will be to consider and develop ways of recording, measuring and reporting SEND data 
(CCG/CPFT)

Measure

Increase in the number of SEND pupils with an NHS number recorded 

Improvement in EHCP annual reviews within timescales 

Improvement in EHCPs completed in timescale 

Compliance with NICE QS 140 quality statements 

Local Offer site stats – increase in page requests 

Improvement in EHCP annual reviews within timescales 

Increase in number of YP with SEND in Employment, Education and Training 

Increase in numbers of YP with SEND in apprenticeships, traineeships and volunteering 

Number of children with Autism placed in specialist provision outside Cumbria 

13 educational measures – improvement in educational attainment across all key stages for Sen Support as in SEND performance report 

Reduction in use of NSA SEN need in School Census 

Reductions in discrepancies between SEND needs compared to national (School Census) 

Volume of requests for an assessment for an EHCP 

Reduction in number of SEND pupils without a school placement 

Reduction in permanent exclusions for pupils with SEND 

Reduction in fixed term exclusions for pupils with SEND 

Reduction in number of SEND-related complaints

Number/% of mothers who received a first face to face antenatal contact with a Health Visitor at 28 weeks or above

% of CHILDREN AND YOUNG ADULTS with a diagnosable MH condition in receipt of treatment from an NHS-funded community MH service

Number of referrals received into the service (CAMHS)

Number of referrals accepted into the service (CAMHS)

Referral to Treatment: Number/% of children and young adults seen within 18 weeks

% children and young adults identified as having a learning disability on the GP register have received a Health Check and have a 
Health Action Plan

Number of children and young adults on the Dynamic Support Register

Number of children with SEND completing Year 9 survey

Continuing Care: Number of current cases

Section 117 cases

Number of complex cases

Total number of referrals into the service (CAMHS) for children & young people with an EHCP

Number of referrals accepted into the service (CAMHS) for children & young people with an EHCP

Number of referrals with a disability (CAMHS) for children & young people with an EHCP

Number/% of EHCPs completed within 6 weeks from the time of request 

Requests for assessments for an EHCP that do not meet the criteria for a full assessment 

SEND pupils who are electively home educated

Increase in number of personal budgets

63



Abbreviation In Full Definition

AA Autism alliance Strive to support, raise awareness and increase understanding of Autism Spectrum  
Conditions throughout the UK to allow all affected by autism to lead productive and 
fulfilling lives. 

ASD Autism spectrum  
disorder 

A condition that someone is born with that affects their ability to communicate and  
interact with the world around them. 

CAMHS Child Adolescent  
Mental Health Service 

CAMHS are the NHS services that assesses and treat young people with emotional,  
behavioural or mental health difficulties.  

CCC Cumbria County Council The administrative body for Cumbria.

CCG Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

A group of GP practices in a particular area that work together to plan and design health 
services in that area. 

CDC Council for Disabled 
Children 

Umbrella body for the disabled children's sector bringing together professionals,  
practitioners and policy-makers. 

COL Communities of learning Group of people who share common academic goals and attitudes, who meet semi- 
regularly to collaborate on classwork.  

DCO Designated  
Clinical Officer 

Designated professional with key responsibilities to support the CCG in meeting statutory 
responsibilities for children and young adults with SEND.   

DFE Department for  
Education 

Department of Her Majesty's Government responsible for issues affecting people in  
England up to the age of 19, including child protection and education. 

DMO Designated Medical 
Officer 

Designated professional with key responsibilities to provide oversight across all health 
professionals delivering healthcare to individual disabled children, young people and 
those with special education needs.  

EHCP Education, health  
and care plan 

EHC plans identify educational, health and social needs and set out the additional support 
to meet those needs for children and young adults aged up to 25 who need more support 
than is available through special educational needs support. 

EY Early years A framework for children up to the age of five, setting out six key areas of learning 
around which activities should be based. 

FE Further education Education in addition to that received at secondary school that is distinct from the higher 
education offered in universities and other academic institutions. 

GP General practitioner A physician whose practice is not oriented to a specific medical specialty but instead 
covers a variety of medical problems in patients of all ages. 

KPI Key performance  
indicator 

A key performance indicator (KPI) is a type of performance measurement.

LA Local authority An administrative body in local government. 

LGA Local Government  
Association 

An organisation which comprises local authorities in England and Wales seeking to  
promote better local government; it maintains communication between officers in  
different local authorities to develop best practice. 

OT Occupational therapy Practical support to empower people to facilitate recovery and overcome barriers  
preventing them from doing the activities (or occupations) that matter to them. 

PCF Parent carer forum Group of parents and carers of disabled children who work with local authorities,  
education, health and other providers to make sure the services they plan and deliver 
meet the needs of disabled children and families. 

PHB Personal health budget An amount of money to support the identified healthcare and wellbeing needs of an  
individual, which is planned and agreed between the individual, or their representative, 
and the local clinical commissioning group (CCG). 

QA Quality assurance Maintenance of a desired level of quality in a service or product, especially by means of 
attention to every stage of the process of delivery or production. 

SALT Speech and language 
therapy 

Field of expertise practiced by a clinician who specializes in the evaluation, diagnosis, 
and treatment of communication disorders, cognition, voice disorders, and swallowing 
disorders. 

SEF Self-evaluation  
framework 

Looking at progress, development and learning to determine what has improved and 
what areas still need improvement.  Usually involves comparing a "before" situation with  
a current situation. 

SEMH Social, emotional and 
mental health needs 

A type of special educational needs in which children/young people have severe  
difficulties in managing their emotions and behaviour. 

SEN  Special Educational Need Referring to children who have learning problems or disabilities that make it harder for 
them to learn than most children of the same age. 

SEND Special Educational 
Needs and Disability 

WSOA Written statement  
of action 

A written statement to be submitted to identify how concerns will be remedied.  

Cumbria Local Area SEND Written Statement of Action

Glossary of terms

64



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 23 September 2019

From: Executive Director People

NEW CHILDREN’S SAFEGUARDING ARRANGEMENTS

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide the Board with a presentation on the new Cumbria Safeguarding 
Children’s Partnership (CSCP).

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To note the presentation.

2.2 To seek assurances around the transition from the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board (LSCB) arrangements to the CSCP.

2.3 To consider how scrutiny can be involved in any learning from case reviews.

3.0 Background 

3.1 The Children and Social Work Act 2017 replaces LSCBs with new local 
safeguarding arrangements, led by three named statutory safeguarding 
partners (local authorities, chief officers of police, and NHS clinical 
commissioning groups). The three partners will assume the responsibilities 
that currently sit with the LSCB. In Cumbria these partners are Cumbria 
County Council, Cumbria Constabulary, NHS North Cumbria Clinical 
Commissioning Group and NHS Morecambe Bay Clinical Commissioning 
Group.

3.2 The safeguarding partners are required to agree on ways to co-ordinate their 
safeguarding services; act as a strategic leadership group in supporting and 
engaging others; and implement local and national learning including from 
serious child safeguarding incidents.

3.4 The new arrangements begin on 29 September 2019, and the appendix provides 
the written statement of how the CSCP will transition from the LSCB arrangements.

Fiona Musgrave, Assistant Director – Integration and Partnerships

23 September 2019

65

Agenda Item 7



Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

Appendices

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership Plan (June 2019).

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No background.

Background Papers

No background papers.

Contact: Fiona Musgrave, fiona.musgrave@cumbria.gov.uk

66

mailto:fiona.musgrave@cumbria.gov.uk


Cumbria 
Safeguarding 

Children 
Partnership 

Plan

June 2019

67



Foreword 

Cumbria Local Safeguarding Children Board has provided expertise and leadership 
across the County. This has been facilitated by strong partnership working; scrutiny 
of practice through a variety of methods including audit and case reviews, sharing  
knowledge, developing our workforce, and providing a Cumbria ‘view’ on key 
issues. The latest LSCB annual report outlines the work undertaken in 2017-18 and 
its impact on safeguarding outcomes for children and young people in Cumbria.

This plan of arrangements sets out how we, as the safeguarding partners will work 
together and with other agencies to identify and respond to the needs of children 
in Cumbria. Our ambition is to build on the strengths of our existing and robust 
partnership and the plan outlines our new ways of working. 

Our approach is proactive and responsive to the needs of children, young people 
and families in Cumbria and our plan drives opportunities to shape and influence 
policy development leading to improved practice and outcomes.

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership is fully committed to keeping children 
and young people at the heart of all they do. All our work will be underpinned by a 
consideration of the views and lived experiences of Cumbria’s children and young 
people. This will include our independent scrutiny arrangements in which children 
and young people’s experiences will be fundamental in quality assurance.

Contents 

Foreword             3

Background - national and local context             4

Working in partnership in Cumbria             5

How we developed our plan             6

Partnership Vision, Values and Principles             6

How we will achieve these             7 

The Partnership Structure             7

Executive Group             8 

Business Group             8

Locality Safeguarding Groups             8

Partnership Sub Groups             9

Educational Establishments             9 

Focus on Specific Safeguarding Areas             9

Child Death Overview Panel              10

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews             10 

Thresholds             10

Use of Data and Intelligence             11

Embedding the Learning and Multi-Agency Training             11 

Youth Custody and Residential Homes             12 

Independent Scrutiny             12  

Voice of Children and Young People             12

Dispute Resolution and Escalation Process             14 

Policies and Procedures             14

Resources and Infrastructure             14 

Transitional arrangements and continuous improvement             15

Glossary             15

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership

3

Katherine Fairclough -
Chief Executive,  

Cumbria 
County Council

Michelle Skeer -  
Chief Constable,  

Cumbria  
Constabulary

Jerry Hawker -  
Chief Officer,  

NHS 
Morecambe Bay 

CCG

Peter Rooney - 
Chief Officer,  

NHS 
North Cumbria 

CCG

68



Background - national and local context
Under the Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 
2017, Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) will be replaced. Under the new 
legislation, the three agencies identified as key safeguarding partners are Local  
Authorities (LAs), Chief Officers of Police and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs). These organisations must make arrangements to work together with relevant  
agencies to safeguard and protect the welfare of children in the area.

LAs, CCGs, and Chief Officers of Police now have equal and joint accountability  
for children safeguarding responsibilities (Working Together 2018). Adult  
responsibilities remain unchanged in line with the Care Act 2014.

Also under the new guidance, two agencies (Local Authorities and Clinical  
Commissioning Groups) are identified as the child death review partners and must 
set up child death review arrangements. In Cumbria, these arrangements will  
continue to be delivered through the Child Death Overview Panel. 

The current Serious Case Review arrangements will be replaced by Child  
Safeguarding Practice Reviews, which may be conducted at local or national level. 
The National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel was established on 29 June 
2018 and transitional guidance has been published setting out the responsibility of 
safeguarding partners when a serious incident occurs from that date onwards. 

Working Together to Safeguard Children (2018) sets out the statutory  
guidance to which all new safeguarding arrangements must adhere. Chief 
Officers/Executives of the new statutory partners (or their nominees) 
have reviewed these proposals and make the proposal outlined below to 
establish new arrangements and ensure compliance with the  
responsibilities.

The safeguarding partners are required to publish a plan setting out 
the new arrangements by 29 June 2019. This is the plan of  
arrangements and sets out how we, as the safeguarding partners,  
will work together and with other agencies to identify and respond to 
the needs of children in Cumbria. 

This plan set out the new local safeguarding arrangements, including:

 How the safeguarding partners will work together to identify and  
respond to the needs of children in the areas.

 Arrangements for commissioning and publishing local child  
safeguarding practice reviews.

 How the effectiveness of the arrangements will be scrutinised 
by an independent person, including how the arrangements will 
be reviewed and how many  
recommendations taken forward. 

Working in partnership in Cumbria
Cumbria has developed its new arrangements mindful of the fact that the LSCB 
arrangements were found to be functioning well by the recent LGA Peer Review. 
The review identified stable, committed and knowledgeable leadership across the 
partnership, and an effective, well organised structure to deliver the current LSCB 
arrangements with good engagement of partners at board and sub group levels. 
They also reported strong administrative and policy support, effective delivering of 
multi-agency arrangements and an effective audit function. 

We are mindful of the need to build upon what is already working well, whilst 
recognising the need for continuous improvement, utilising the new partnership 
arrangements to drive further outcomes. The existing board has provided expertise 
and leadership across the county which has been facilitated by strong partnership 
working. The board has ensured scrutiny of practice through a variety of methods 
including audit and case reviews, sharing knowledge, developing our workforce, 
and providing a Cumbria ‘view’ on key issues. We have also worked effectively to 
ensure that the partnership is informed by the voice of children and young people 
through our Young Perspectives Board and this is a key area to strengthen further. 

The new arrangements align with other strategic partnership work happening locally  
to support children and families. This includes the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
Children’s Trust Board, Safeguarding Adult Board, Safer Cumbria, Corporate 
Parenting Board, Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPAs), and the 
Prevent Board (see below). 

Safeguarding partners in Cumbria will continue to work together in order to identify  
and respond to the needs of children through the new partnership arrangements. 
The four lead safeguarding partners are as follows:

 Cumbria County Council.
 Cumbria Constabulary. 
 North Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group.
 Morecambe Bay Clinical Commissioning Group.

Cumbria County Council and Cumbria Constabulary are coterminous with the 
proposed geography for the new arrangements. North Cumbria CCG is wholly 
situated within Cumbria whilst Morecambe Bay CCG has a footprint covering south 
Cumbria and North Lancashire. The statutory requirements do not allow for local 
authority boundaries to be split and every effort will be made to ensure a  
collaborative and consistent approach where possible within the new arrangements 
for Cumbria and Lancashire. 

The new arrangements are supported by changes in the framework for health  
commissioning and continued collaboration of CCGs across the Integrated Care 
Systems. Each CCG remains responsible for fulfilling its own statutory and  
legislative duties to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The revised  
arrangements do not remove or detract from the partner organisational requirements  
laid down within legal and national guidance. 

The safeguarding partners and relevant agencies included in these arrangements 
will fulfil their statutory duties to safeguard and promote the welfare of children 
and young people from Cumbria who live or are placed outside of our local  
authority area.

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership

54

Our Plan

Corporate
Parenting

Board
Safer

Cumbria
Health and
wellbeing

Board

Adult
Safeguarding

Board
Children’s 

Trust Board MAPPA Prevent
Board

CSCP
Executive 

Group

69



How we developed our plan
Our plan has been developed through our existing partnership. While we have set 
the overall direction and intent, some of the detail regarding areas of focus will  
be the subject of wider consultation as part of our ‘safeguarding fortnight’ in  
September 2019. In developing our plan we have built upon our existing strengths 
as recognised in our recent LGA Peer Review, as well as thinking about how we take 
the opportunity to do things differently and maximise the impact of our partnership.

Partnership Vision, Values and Principles 

In this plan we commit to the following shared values and principles which will 
underpin everything we do:

 To be child focussed.
 To work in a strength based way.
 To be a learning partnership.
 To value and support our workforce.
 To work in partnership.
 To undertake engagement and co-production.
 To always ask the ‘so what?’ question and ensure what we do makes a difference.

How we will achieve these

The strength of partnership working is dependent on partners working  
collaboratively together with the relevant agencies, safeguarding partners in Cumbria  
work together in order to identify and respond to the needs of children through the 
new Partnership.

Cumbria Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) will change its name to the 
Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership (CSCP). The Partnership will be 
structured to provide strong leadership, collaboration, scrutiny and assurance. This 
requires robust and effective arrangements at both a strategic and a local level, and 
it is our arrangements in localities that we are taking the opportunity to strengthen 
through the new arrangements.

The CSCP will provide strategic leadership across the County. The arrangements 
will be delivered through an Executive Group underpinned by a Business Group. A 
number of sub groups will continue to deliver core functions and we will establish 
(with a phased implementation) Locality Safeguarding Groups. 

The Partnership 
Structure

Cumbria Safeguarding Children PartnershipOur Plan

76

Keeping  
Children Safe 
in Education

Child Death 
Overview  

Panel
Case

Review
Learning and 
Improvement PMQAG Policy and 

Procedures
Complex

Safeguarding Early Help
Safeguarding

Hub 
Programme 

Board

Keeping  
Children Safe 
in Education

3x Locality
Safeguarding

Groups

7 District 
Practitioner

Forums

3x Locality
QAGs

MACE
Meetings

Business Group

CSCP 
Executive  

Group

Young
Perspective 

Board

70



Partnership Sub Groups 

The Business Group will be supported to deliver the priorities through a number of 
countywide partnership sub groups: 

 Policy and Procedures.
 Learning and Improvement. 
 Performance Management and Quality Assurance.
 Child Death Overview Panel.
 Case Review.
 Keeping Children Safe in Education Partnership.
 Complex Safeguarding.
 Early Help.
 Safeguarding Hub Programme Board.

Educational Establishments 

The importance of schools is emphasised in the new national guidance recognising 
their role identifying and supporting vulnerable children and young people. The 
role of schools and other education settings will be prioritised and supported to 
promote the best possible engagement across the sector. The Keeping Children Safe 
in Education sub group will aim to build on established relationships with schools 
and education providers to ensure they remain a key partner agency and the chair 
will sit on the Business Group.

Focus on Specific Safeguarding Areas
Themed sub-groups will provide a multi-agency focus on themes.

 Complex Safeguarding Group
 The existing Missing, Exploited and Trafficked (MET) Group will be refocused as  

the Complex Safeguarding Group and will provide a focal point for the CSCP in  
ensuring oversight and consistency of our response to complex safeguarding issues.

 Early Help sub group 
 The existing Early Help sub group will continue to embed the Early Help Strategy  

and drive improvement of the systems and processes for Early Help.
 Safeguarding Hub Programme Board

 The Safeguarding Hub Programme Board will continue to set the strategic  
vision, operation model, deliverables and direction for the Multi-Agency  
Safeguarding Hub.

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership

98

Our Plan

Executive Group 

The Executive Group will be formed of senior responsible officers or their nominated  
representatives from the three statutory safeguarding partners and will be chaired 
by the existing independent chair for an interim period of six months, following 
which the chairing arrangements will be reviewed. 

The Executive Group will meet on a quarterly basis to drive forward the work of the 
CSCP, ensuring the vision is upheld and the priorities are delivered. The Group will 
review progress, assess strengths and identify areas for development.

Business Group
The Business Group membership will include the chairs of the partnership  
sub-groups and chairs of the Locality Safeguarding Groups, the statutory partners 
as well as the other ‘relevant agencies’ (as detailed in Working Together 2018). In 
Cumbria this will include representatives from education, health, district councils, 
criminal justice and the voluntary sector.

The Business Group will develop, implement and monitor an annual plan and agree 
priority actions against core business; and will direct the subgroups in delivery of 
the plan. It will meet quarterly, with meetings themed around agreed local and  
national safeguarding priorities and areas identified through data and performance.  
The group will report to the Executive Group.

Locality Safeguarding Groups
We believe the new arrangements present an opportunity to improve the consistency  
of our locality response to safeguarding issues. Our new arrangements will  
establish (on a phased approach) three Locality Safeguarding Groups based on the 
following locality areas: Allerdale and Copland; Carlisle and Eden; Barrow and 
South Lakeland. We will be working in consultation with partners to establish how 
the arrangements will work in practice. 

We will work to ensure that the benefits of  
these will include:

 Ensuring the strategic direction of the 
Executive Group is informed by local 
issues.

 Facilitating greater ownership and 
accountability of children’s  
safeguarding at a locality level.

 Greater opportunities for engagement 
and co-production of locally owned and 
developed solutions and ideas, with 
local stakeholders.

 The locality groups will be chaired 
by a safeguarding partner and 
will initially meet on a quarterly 
basis and be formed of key senior 
officers from  that local area with 
decision making responsibility, 
driving practice locally through 
the partnership.

71



Use of Data and Intelligence
The current arrangements for data and intelligence which have been in place for the 
LSCB will continue for the CSCP.

There is a robust system of performance scrutiny, analysis and challenge with a 
multi-agency data set for the Board and a priority-based dataset for each themed 
sub-group. This will continue for the new Safeguarding Partnership. The multi- 
agency datasets include data on all aspects from early help through to statutory 
intervention. The partnership priorities will be underpinned by outcome measures. 

Each sub-group reports to the Business Group via a Highlight Report on activity, 
actions and performance. A composite report is completed by the Business Group 
and presented to the Partnership, highlighting performance issues, exceptions, 
actions and recommendations for further action.

Actions and outcomes from all case audits and reviews are analysed and re-visited 
to ensure that they are embedded in practice.

The CSCP Business Plan records and reviews actions and outcomes for each  
Partnership priority.

A system of Section 11 Safeguarding Audits ensures that the Partnership receives 
assurance from each organisation about their safeguarding children arrangements. 

The CSCP will publish a report annually giving details of activity and the impact of 
that activity across the Safeguarding Partnership.

Embedding the Learning and Multi-Agency Training 

Locally, there is an ongoing commitment to developing a consistent approach to 
multi- agency training, which is underpinned by robust evaluation processes to  
ensure that the training programme is clearly focussed on embedding good  
practice: our approach will be both challenging and supportive. We want to learn 
from what works, as well as look as look openly when the system doesn’t work as 
well as it needs to. As outlined in Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, 
multi-agency training is important for supporting the collective understanding of 
local need and for practitioners to be effective in universal services and across the 
safeguarding pathway. This spans from early help through to targeted and  
specialist services including looked after children and care leavers. To be effective  
practitioners need to continue to build their knowledge and skills and be aware of 
the new and emerging threats.

The Learning and Improvement Sub Group are responsible for the planning,  
co-ordination, commissioning and evaluation of high quality multi-agency training 
to the children’s workforce. The group ensures that the learning and development 
provided within agencies equips professionals to safeguard children.

The Partnership continues to implement Signs of Safety as its overarching  
practice model which is a more inclusive, strengths based approach for all of the  
partnerships work with children and families.

In addition to training activities, there will also be development opportunities such 
as information sessions and briefings, practice forums and conferences. These  
activities will promote putting theory and research into practice, developing  
evidence-based practice and expertise, sharing perspectives and learning and  
enhancing confidence in helping and protecting children and young people.

The Partnership acknowledge that good quality supervision is fundamental to  
support safe and effective practice; the Partnership will continue to promote a  
culture that values and engages in regular safeguarding supervision. 

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership

1110

Our Plan

Child Death Overview Panel 
This group will manage the completion of child death reviews, following the new 
statutory guidance in this area. It will adopt a Cumbria footprint to reviewing child 
deaths, consistent with the previous approach adopted by the child death overview 
panel. The learning will be fed into other themed learning locally, regionally and 
nationally and will be used as part of the Learning and Improvement framework.

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews 

Since June 2018, responsibility for how our system learn lessons from cases when 
things don’t go well, particularly when this reaches the criteria for a serious child 
safeguarding incident  lies at a national level with the Child Safeguarding Practice 
Review Panel and at a local level with the Safeguarding Partners. In Cumbria it is 
overseen in practice by our Case Review Sub-Group, reporting through the  
Business Group to the CSCP Executive Board.

The purpose of a local Child Safeguarding Practice Review is to identify and inform 
improvement in safeguarding practice. The Case Review Sub Group will continue in  
the new arrangements to oversee the process and ensures that learning leads to 
improvement in front-line practice. A clear plan for disseminating and sharing the 
learning from the review with all ‘relevant agencies’ is developed for each case. An  
ongoing programme of training targeted at practitioners focus on emerging key 
themes and learning from reviews to improve practice. For every review we will 
produce a ‘Learning Lessons Briefing’: this will provide a short summary of the 
background to the case, identify key learning and highlight areas for practice  
improvement.

Thresholds 

The LSCB has threshold guidance that will be reviewed by the CSCP as part of the  
new arrangements. The guidance describes the overarching approach taken in Cumbria  
to supporting young people and children (pre-birth up to 18 years) and their families  
and then explains the different elements of the approach in more detail.

This multi-agency guidance seeks to:

 Describe levels of vulnerability and the appropriate response at  
differing levels.

 set out the principles that underpin the way we will work with  
children, young people and families.

 Make clear the thresholds for action/intervention and provide  
case studies that give real life examples of this.

 Provide a description of the Cumbria  
Safeguarding Hub and how this works  
in supporting a multi-agency  
approach to working with children, 
young people and families when  
it is appropriate to use it.

 Provide the necessary information  
to ensure that those children 
and young people identified 
as having additional needs 
receive timely intervention 
and have access to  
services to address  
these. 

72



Youth Custody and Residential Homes 

The Youth Offending Team reports to LSCB and will continue to support the CSCP 
via the Local Authority Children’s Services representative on the Executive Group. 
The Youth Offending Team is directly represented on the CSCP Business Group and 
on other sub-groups.

There are no Youth Custody homes within the local authority but those which are  
in the region will be required to report on arrangements as and when necessary.

There is representation from the Forum of Independent Schools and Children’s 
Homes (FISCH), on the CSCP Complex Safeguarding Sub-group.

Independent Scrutiny  

The role of independent scrutiny will provide assurance in judging the effectiveness 
of the multi-agency arrangements, including those to identify and review serious 
incidents and conduct child safeguarding practice reviews, (previously known as 
Serious Case Reviews).

Our approach to securing independent scrutiny has been identified as a strength 
across our system in the recent LGA Peer Review. Current arrangements include; 
an independent Board Chair, regular multi-agency audits, practitioner surveys, the 
Young Perspectives Board (which will continue to be the dedicated voice for children  
and young people in Cumbria), and Learning Reviews. 

We will further strengthen these arrangements through reciprocal agreements 
with other local areas to undertake peer reviews, developing the use of Appreciative 
Inquiry as a model for identifying and celebrating what is working well, and further 
involvement of children, young people and families. 

The Council’s Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Advisory Board will be part 
of the new safeguarding partnership’s scrutiny arrangements, receiving regular 
updates on the progress of the new partnership arrangements. 

As a learning partnership we are keen to evaluate how our new arrangements are 
working and whether we are securing the desired impact. We will commission an 
external Peer Review to take place during the autumn in 2020.

Voice of Children and Young People
The voice of the child is at the heart of the partnership. Involving children and 
families is important to safeguarding in Cumbria both in contributing to delivering 
the partnership’s vision and in helping to scrutinise and review the partnership 
arrangements themselves. 

Voice, engagement activity, co-production and 
working collaboratively with children and young 
people’s perceptions, aspirations and skills is an area of
strength in Cumbria. The Young Perspective Board is 
well established, meets regularly, reports to the Board 
and will continue to be the dedicated voice for 
young people in Cumbria.

We will continue to ask our relevant agencies 
and other partners how they ensure they have 
captured and listened to the voices of children,
young people and families in their work as 
well as identifying other innovative ways to 
gather this feedback through the partnership.

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership

1312

Our Plan

73



Dispute Resolution and Escalation Process 

All agencies working with children in Cumbria remain subject to the policies and 
procedures set out in the existing Multi Agency procedures manual and its  
‘Escalation Policy’. This sets out the general principles of resolution as well as the 
specific processes to be followed if escalation is required. 

The Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership and all relevant agencies will be 
expected to adhere to the policy. Should a disagreement arise at no time must  
professional disagreement detract from ensuring that the child is safeguarded.  
The child’s welfare and safety must remain paramount throughout.

Policies and Procedures
CSCP will assume all the current multi-agency policies, procedures and guidance 
published by Cumbria LSCB. All of these will remain in force until such time as 
each is revised and updated. The Policies and Procedures Sub Group will oversee 
this work.

Resources and Infrastructure 
The existing support arrangements for the partnership (recognised as a strength 
in our recent LGA Peer Review) will be retained. As our new arrangements develop 
the impact on the support required will be monitored to ensure capacity to provide 
effective support is maintained. There is an ongoing commitment from statutory 
partner to resource the partnership and a recognition that locality working may 
have some resource implications but will lead to improved outcomes. 

The Partnership is committed to an agreed equitable split of the costs associated 
with the new arrangements. A pledge has been made to keep commitments the 
same for 2019/20. 

 Agency 

Local Authority (staffing/board support) £141,600
CCG’s, Acute & Provider Trusts £71,878
Police £13,811
Others £2,326
 £237,416

Transitional arrangements and continuous improvement
The process of developing the new partnership arrangements included a number of 
critical stages:

 Milestone Deadline

Establishment of Working Together Group September 2018 

Options paper to the Board February 2019

LGA Peer Review March 2019

Paper to Cumbria County Council Cabinet  6 June 2019

New arrangements to be published 29 June 2019

New arrangements to be in place  29 September 2019

New Partnership Board and Business Group September 2019
Arrangements begin

Development of Locality Groups 31 December 2019   
 Locality 1 

 31 March 2020
 Locality 2

 30 June 2020 
 Locality 3 

Publication of Annual Report TBC

Glossary
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CDOP Child Death Overview Panel

CSCP Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership

FISCH Forum of Independent Schools and Children’s Homes

LA Local Authority

LGA Local Government Association

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board

MAPPA Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements

SCR Serious Case Review

Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership

1514

Our Plan

74



75



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 23 September 2019

From: Executive Director People

OFSTED TARGETED VISIT

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide the Board with a presentation on the outcome of Ofsted’s focused 
visit to Cumbria in August 2019.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To note the presentation.

2.2 To seek assurances around action to address the recommendations.

2.3 To consider any recommendations to the Corporate Parenting Board.

3.0 Background 

3.1 In August 2019, Ofsted carried out a two day focused visit. Inspectors looked 
at the local authority's arrangements for the front door. They also considered 
the effectiveness of strategy discussions and child protection enquiries, the 
quality of assessments and early help plans, thresholds for the transfer of 
work to early help services and the response to 16-17-year-olds who present 
as homeless.

3.2 As it was a focused visit, Ofsted do not give an overall grading, but produce 
a letter to the authority providing an overview of the findings and identifying 
areas for improvement.

Lynn Berryman, Assistant Director – Children and Young People

23 September 2019

77

Agenda Item 8



Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

Appendices

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No background.

Background Papers

No background papers.

Contact: Lynn Berryman, lynn.berryman@cumbria.gov.uk

78

mailto:fiona.musgrave@cumbria.gov.uk


 

Ofsted 
Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

T  0300 123 1231 
Textphone  0161 618 8524 

enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  

 

 

 

 
6 September 2019 
 
John Macilwraith 
Executive Director – People 
(Deputy Chief Executive) 
Cumbria County Council 
Cumbria House 
107–117 
Botchergate 
Carlisle 
CA1 1RZ 
 
 
 
Dear John 
 
Focused visit to Cumbria local authority children’s services 
 
This letter summarises the findings of a focused visit to Cumbria children’s services 
on 13 August 2019. The inspectors were Shabana Abasi, Her Majesty’s Inspector, 
and Jan Edwards, Her Majesty’s Inspector. 
 
Inspectors looked at the local authority’s arrangements for the front door. They also 
considered the effectiveness of strategy discussions and child protection enquiries, 
the quality of assessments and early help plans, thresholds for the transfer of work 
to early help services and the response to 16- and 17-year-olds who present as 
homeless. 
 
Inspectors also evaluated the effectiveness of performance management, 
management oversight, supervision and quality assurance. 
 
Inspectors looked at a range of evidence, including children’s case records, case 
discussions with social workers, managers and partner agencies based within the 
multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH). They also looked at local authority 
performance management and quality assurance information. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

79

file:///D:/LIBREOFFICETEMP/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///D:/LIBREOFFICETEMP/www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 
 

 

Overview 
 
Cumbria children’s services were last inspected in November 2017, when the overall 
effectiveness of services was judged to require improvement to be good. Since the 
inspection, the local authority has continued to strengthen arrangements for 
managing referrals and contacts. Senior leaders and managers now have a clear 
oversight and a better understanding of operational practice at the front door. 
  
Children and their families receive quick and appropriate responses from the multi- 
agency safeguarding hub (MASH) when enquiries for early help and support and 
safeguarding concerns are received. Children who need urgent protection receive an 
effective response, with prompt action taken to reduce risks. Children’s assessments 
are mostly informative. They include children’s histories and views, which inform the 
analysis of risk, but issues of identity are not well considered as part of the overall 
assessment. The response to young people who present as homeless remains poor, 
despite this being raised at the last inspection. 
 
The local authority’s preferred model of social work is well embedded, and its 
influence is evident at every level, from the strategic to the operational. It helps to 
shape the way in which social workers think and practise. It provides a common 
language for use with other professionals. It is also used positively to engage 
parents and families, enabling them to share in the evaluation of risks and concerns 
about their children and supporting them to make the changes needed to improve 
children’s outcomes.    
  
Staff recruitment and retention of frontline workers in some areas of the county 
continues to be a significant challenge for the local authority. In the last few 
months, staffing vacancies have resulted in a small number of children not having 
allocated social workers for a short period of time. The local authority has put in 
place plans to manage this challenging situation. Senior leaders recognise that 
workforce instability brings with it a number of vulnerabilities, including 
inconsistency in the quality of practice, and they are aware of the impact this may 
have on children. The local authority is actively engaged in a number of initiatives to 
support social work recruitment and staff development, but at the time of the 
inspection it was too soon to see any impact of these initiatives on some areas of 
the service. 
 
Although audits of practice have continued to provide reassurance for senior 
leaders and managers about the quality of practice across the county, actions 
recommended from the audits are not always addressed in a timely way.  
   

80



 

 
 

 

 
What needs to improve in this area of social work practice 
 
◼ the capacity and stability of the workforce in the teams where it is most 

problematic 
 
◼ exploration of children’s identity needs in assessments 

 
◼ assessment of the needs of young people who present as homeless, including 

consideration of whether they need to be looked after by the local authority 

 
◼ actions resulting from audit are completed in a timely way. 

 
 
Findings 
 
◼ The front door provides an easily accessible single point of contact for families 

and professionals seeking advice and support.  
 

◼ Thresholds are understood and applied by partner agencies, and this leads to 
timely referrals to children’s social care. Initial screening of contacts is effective, 
including those screened by the police and health partners. Historic concerns, risk 
and protective factors are well considered and analysed to inform appropriate 
threshold decisions. This results in children and families receiving support and 
help that is commensurate with their level of need. 

 
◼ Managers have detailed oversight of all contacts and referrals in the MASH. 

Rationale for decisions are clearly recorded and frequent oversight of work within 
the MASH throughout the day ensures that decisions are made in a timely way. 
This means that children and families receive services promptly. 

 

◼ Social workers in the MASH routinely obtain consent from parents and carers to 
seek further information from other professionals. When consent is overridden, a 
clear rationale is provided. Letters confirming the outcome of the referral are sent 
to referrers but because they are not uploaded onto the case file, there is no 
record to give evidence that a letter has been sent.  

 
◼ Decisions to step down cases to early help from the MASH are appropriate. They 

are informed by an analysis of risks and protective factors and are effectively 
supported by liaison with the early help officers (EHOs). EHOs provide timely 
advice to partners undertaking early help assessments and identify appropriate 
support for children and families.  

 
◼ When children are referred for a service out of hours, the emergency duty team 

responds appropriately to reported concerns. This is supported by relevant and 
good information-sharing between out-of-hours and daytime services. 

 

81



 

 
 

 

◼ The needs of children assessed as being at risk of significant harm are prioritised. 
Cases are swiftly transferred to district support and protection teams to undertake 
child protection enquiries. 

 
◼ Strategy meetings are timely and well attended and are effective forums for 

sharing multi-agency information. Analysis of information and decision-making is 
supported by the use of danger statements, safety goals and individual 
professionals’ scaling of risk. Partnership working is a strength. Partners have a 
good understanding of thresholds and have embraced the local authority’s 
preferred methodology of risk analysis. This contributes to a coherent and joined-
up approach to safeguarding children. 

 
◼ Child protection investigations are thorough and include the views of partners and 

full details of discussions following visits with children and parents. Information is 
gathered and well analysed in the form of child and family assessments. Initial 
child protection conferences are generally convened within the required timescale 
and are well attended by partners. Meetings clearly record the views of all 
present, the evidence considered, and the rationale for decisions reached.  

 
◼ Assessments of children and their families are mainly comprehensive and well 

written. Social workers use the local authority’s preferred model of social work 
consistently and effectively to consider historical information and explore risk and 
protective factors. Most assessments demonstrate a real sense of children’s lived 
experiences, although identity needs are not well considered to inform this 
understanding, and this reduces the quality of the overall assessment. 
 

◼ Most children’s plans are child-centred, and outcome focused. They include clear, 
timebound actions, and are specific about what needs to change in order to 
improve children’s circumstances.  
 

◼ 16- and 17-year-olds who present as homeless or who are at risk of becoming 
homelessness are not provided with a robust social work response. Young people 
are not afforded the opportunity of a social work assessment in all cases. This 
was raised as an area of improvement during the last inspection and there is 
insufficient evidence of progress having been made. 

 

◼ Children are seen and seen alone. Social workers know children well and, in most 
cases, records of home visits and sessions with children are comprehensive. 
Purposeful and creative direct work is undertaken to help children understand their 
lived experience and to ascertain their wishes and feelings. 

 

◼ Case summaries are not always updated following changes in the child’s 
circumstances. This means that decisions made by the out-of-hours service are not 
always based on complete information. In most cases, chronologies are 
comprehensive and up to date but are not actively used as an effective working tool 
to increase the understanding of the impact of significant events. 
 

82



 

 
 

 

◼ Capacity issues over the last two to three months in the West district teams have 
resulted in a small number of children in need not having allocated social workers 
for short periods of time. Inspectors were concerned about the impact of this 
situation on those children. The local authority confirmed that they have 
prioritised child protection and ensured that any child in need of protection had an 
allocated social worker. Children in need were all seen within the local authority’s 
timescale for visiting, but some children had multiple allocations following workers 
leaving or going on planned maternity leave. Managers reviewed these cases, and 
duty social workers have undertaken visits to all the children. However, this does 
not support children and parents to develop trusting relationships with workers in 
order to effect positive change. Senior leaders acknowledge the risks this presents 
and recognise that this is not a sustainable or acceptable position.  

 

◼ Senior managers are aware of the impact of instability of the workforce on 
children and have taken a number of actions to address the workforce capacity 
issues. Senior managers have actively considered proposals to increase capacity, 
and funding has very recently been agreed for a commissioned service to 
undertake child in need work for a period of six months from 27 August 2019.  

 

◼ In most cases, management supervision and oversight is regular and provides 
appropriate guidance at key points in work with children. The local authority’s 
preferred model of social work is used effectively to support reflective discussion, 
including group supervision. 

 

◼ Performance management and quality assurance processes ensure that senior 
managers are well informed about matters relating to frontline practice. 
Performance management is well embedded. Performance data is used 
intelligently to identify areas of practice needing further scrutiny. Audits are now 
completed in collaboration with social workers and are an accurate reflection of 
the quality of practice. The auditing process is robust, with checks and balances 
applied to the judgement through a process of moderation. However, in some 
cases there is over a month between the audit taking place and a check through 
moderation, which means that in these cases corrective actions identified are not 
completed until after the moderation. This is not within a reasonable timescale for 
children.  

 

 
Ofsted will take the findings from this focused visit into account when planning your 
next inspection or visit. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
Shabana Abasi 
Her Majesty’s Inspector 
 

 

83



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 23 September 2019

From: Cabinet Members for Children’s Services and 
Schools and Learning

Cabinet Member Update

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 For lead Cabinet Members to give a verbal update to scrutiny on their 
activity.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 Note the updates from the Cabinet Members for Children’s Services and for 
Schools and Learning.

2.2 Agree any items with Cabinet Members for the board, or questions for the 
board to include in future items based on the update.

3.0 Background

3.1 Lead Cabinet Members give a verbal update routinely to the Scrutiny 
Advisory Board Children and Young People, which provides the board with 
an opportunity to understand what the lead Member is working on and to 
inform the programme of the board.

Anne Burns, Lead Member Children’s Services 
Sue Sanderson, Lead Member Schools and Learning
23/9/19

Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

85

Agenda Item 9



Appendices

No appendices

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

Background Papers

No background papers.

Contact: Anne Burns, anne.burns@cumbria.gov.uk 
Sue Sanderson, sue.sanderson@cumbria.gov.uk

86

mailto:anne.burns@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:sue.sanderson@cumbria.gov.uk


SCRUTINY ADVISORY BOARD – CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE

Meeting date: 23 September 2019

From: Executive Director Corporate, Customer and 
Community Services

Board Briefing

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To update Scrutiny on the activity of the Board and relevant items in the 
Cabinet Forward Plan.

2.0 Issues for Scrutiny

2.1 To note the contents of the discussion on 0-19 Services and the forthcoming 
session on County Lines.

2.2 To suggest items for the 2019 Scrutiny Advisory Board agenda.

2.3 Members asked to consider whether to open the invite to the Youth 
Offending Team’s presentation to all non-exec Members.

3.0 Background

3.1 May 2019’s Board carried out a one off single agenda item on the SEND 
joint local area inspection. The Board agreed this as a priority for ongoing 
overview and scrutiny, and will have received a presentation on the joint 
County Council and NHS response in September.

3.2 On 10th July Children’s Scrutiny Board hosted a session on County Lines 
that was delivered by Dean Holdern from Cumbria Constabulary. The 
session was well attended from Members across the Council and highlighted 
a number of important issues for Members to continue to consider around 
how this relates to vulnerable young people.

3.3 Also in July the Board carried out a one off meeting to look at the Cumbria 
Youth Justice Strategy ahead of it going to Council. 

3.4 The next Board meeting will be taking place in December and the following 
items are currently on the agenda:

• Mental Health

87

Agenda Item 10



• Child Exploitation

• Disadvantage in Schools

• 2019 GCSE and A-Level Attainment

Joel Rasbash
Strategic Policy and Scrutiny Advisor
23/9/19

Please ensure that every part of this section where there is an asterisk* is completed in 
accordance with the instructions before sending the report to Member Services, following 
which please delete this sentence.

Appendices

Presentation on Youth Justice Strategy

Previous Relevant Council or Executive Decisions
[including Local Committees]

No previous relevant decisions.

Background Papers

No background papers.

Contact: Joel Rasbash, joel.rasbash@cumbria.gov.uk

88

mailto:joel.rasbash@cumbria.gov.uk

	Agenda
	5 MINUTES
	6 SEND Written Statement of Action
	Cumbria SEND letter
	Cumbria SEND response

	7 New Safeguarding Arrangements
	Safeguarding Document

	8 OFSTED - 'Hub Focused Visit'
	10046908 Focused Visit - Cumbria

	9 Cabinet Member Update
	10 BOARD BRIEFING



